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On behalf of the Council and Staff of the Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake, it is our 
pleasure to present the 2021 Annual Report.

2021 was a significant year for Niagara-on-the-Lake. While continuing recovery efforts in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Town moved forward towards additional reopening measures 
and applying lessons learned during the pandemic to reimagine how service is provided. The 
pandemic has been tragic and challenging, but with this crisis, we have also seen tremendous 
resiliency and adaptability in the Niagara-on-the-Lake team.

The pandemic has emphasized the importance of digitizing services to ensure availability and 
ease of use. Staff has committed to leveraging technology to digitize Town services, making 
continuous process enhancements towards overall better customer service and experience 
levels.

The Town has also adjusted and adapted to a new way of working amid the pandemic and, as 
such, has reimagined daily operations in order to provide better service to customers. From 
offering services online to curbside pick-up, the pandemic has allowed for the reimagining of 
operations and has cultivated new, efficient ways to make services easier and more accessible for 
customers.

As we reimagine, it is essential that our efforts are not just focused on recovering from the 
pandemic but also on a future where the Town supports economic recovery efforts and builds a 
customer-centric, modernized, safe and sustainable approach to service delivery. In this way, we 
will build back stronger and more resilient than our pre-COVID-19 state.

We want to extend our heartfelt thanks to the Niagara-on-the-Lake community for remaining 
united throughout this pandemic. We work so much better when we work together and support 
one another, and Niagara-on-the-Lake has shown this to be true.

We look forward to continual improvements and more in-person services returning in 2022.

Sincerely,

CAO Marnie Cluckie

GREETINGS FROM
LORD MAYOR & CHIEF 
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

Lord Mayor Betty Disero
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CORPORATE 
MISSION
At your service – providing outstanding support, 
friendly assistance and effectively delivered 
services to our residents and businesses 
throughout Niagara-on-the-Lake.

CORPORATE 
VISION
Working together to maintain our heritage, 
agriculture and distinct beauty while creating 
vibrant sustainable communities for all.

CORPORATE 
PILLARS
• Protect Distinctive Community Assets

• Deliver Smart Balanced Growth

• Create a Culture of Customer Service Excel-
lence

• Excel in a Positive Workplace

• Strengthen 2-Way Communications
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Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of twelve municipalities within the Niagara Region. Prior to the creation of the 
Regional Municipality of Niagara in 1970, the area was composed of the former Town and Townships of 
Niagara. The Town is represented by a Lord Mayor and eight (8) Councillors.

Niagara-on-the-Lake holds the distinction of being the first capital of Upper Canada from 1792-1796 when 
it was known as Newark.

The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) is appointed by Town Council to oversee the management and 
operation of the Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. As the Town manager, the CAO advises 
Council on all municipal programs and services and is accountable to Council for all operations of the 
Corporation.

LEGISLATIVE  
AUTHORITY
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
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ORGANIZATIONAL
CHART

Customer Experience & 
Communications 

 
Human Resources &  

Purchasing 

Lord Mayor & Council
Lord Mayor Disero, Councillors Arsenault, Bisback, Burroughs, 

Cameron, Cheropita, O’Connor, E. Wiens, J. Wiens

Chief Administrative 
Officer

Marnie Cluckie

CAO’s Office 

Corporate Services

Director 
Kyle Freeborn

Operations 

Director (A) 
Sheldon Randall

Community & 
Development Services 

Director 
Craig Larmour

Fire & Emergency 
Services 
Fire Chief 
Nick Ruller

Office of the Town Clerk 
 

Information Technology 
 

Finance & Taxation

Parks & Recreation

Public Works

Building Services 
 

Planning Services

Parking & By-law 
Enforcement 

Community Risk 
Reduction

Operations & 
Training 
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RESPONSIBILITIES

• Chief advisor to Town Council

• Provides leadership to Town Staff

• Coordinates all departments to ensure 
efficient implementation of Council policies 
and directives

• Guides the implementation of Town 
Council’s Strategic Plan

• Develops and maintains key relationships 
with other municipal, provincial and federal 
governments and organizations

Leading a team of exceptional employees, Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Chief Administrative 
Officer (CAO), Marnie Cluckie, serves as the most senior position of the Corporation and is 
responsible to Town Council for the effective and efficient operation of all Town programs and 
services.

OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Customer Experience & 
Communications  
 
Human Resources & Purchasing 
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
After challenging COVID-19 lockdowns, 
Niagara-on-the-Lake emerged stronger 
with a new appreciation for community 
connection and engagement. Participating 
in community-wide events, seasonal 
activities, and commemorations, brought 
the Town and residents together to share 
relevant information while celebrating 
the beauty of the Niagara-on-the-Lake 
community. 

2021 marked the year of creating the 
Customer Experience and Communications 
division, dedicated to achieving one of the 
many goals of creating and distributing 
communications that are accessible, 
consistent, and clear to provide customer 
experience excellence. Utilizing digital 
technologies, this Team has dramatically 
improved how information is shared 
amongst Town residents, employees, 
Council members, and stakeholders. 

2021 Events and Campaigns:

February:

Volunteer Awards - The Volunteer Awards 
returned in 2021 to honour the Town’s 
many dedicated volunteers. The ceremony 
was held virtually via Livestream at the 
November 22, 2022, Council Meeting, where 
11 winners were acknowledged.cards to 
local businesses.

Shine Light, Spread Kindness - The Shine Light, 
Spread Kindness Campaign promoted a culture 
of kindness in Niagara-on-the-Lake. Community 
members were encouraged for seven days to 
spread kindness through words, creativity, giving, 
stewardship, action, self-care, and thought. 

 
#LoveNOTL - In honour of Valentine’s Day and 
the “month of love,” the public was invited to 
share what they love about Niagara-on-the-Lake 
over social media. Those who participated were 
entered into a draw for two prizes of gift cards to 
local businesses. 

Black History Month - In honour of Black 
History Month, the Town shared an important 
fact about Niagara-on-the- Lake’s rich Black 
History every Friday on social media. The goal in 
doing so was to recognize and appreciate how 
Black History has impacted our community and 
shaped our country. 

 
April:

Reconnect to Rediscover Niagara - A Region-
wide challenge encouraged residents to get out 
and rediscover all of Niagara’s unique beauty, 
with the opportunity to win fantastic prizes.

Shine Light, Spread Kindness; examples of kind acts
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

May: 

Act on Litter - A social media campaign 
encouraged individuals to make small 
changes to prevent and reduce waste and 
litter.

NOTL At Home - This campaign celebrated 
how lucky we are to be #stayingathome in 
NOTL, asking residents to send in pictures 
of something they love about their home or 
neighbourhood for a chance to win a $50 
gift card to a local greenhouse or garden 
center. 

 
June: 

Strawberry Social - The Senior Citizen 
Strawberry Social Afternoon Tea was 
hosted in a safe, contact-free drive-thru and 
delivery format. Residents who participated 
received an individual box full of baked 
treats, tea, and fresh strawberries.

 

 
NOTL Step Challenge - The Town 
partnered with local businesses and 
organizations to donate prizes to weekly 
winning individuals and teams. A whopping 
50,232,770 steps were taken collectively!

NOTL Pride - Residents were encouraged 
to show love, kindness, and pride by 
printing and hanging a NOTL Pride Poster 
created by the Town’s Diversity, Equity, 
and Inclusivity Committee. Residents also 
posted pictures wearing pride colours and 
photographs of their sidewalks/driveways 
rainbow-coloured. 

NOTL Park Hop - An animal-themed 
scavenger hunt for NOTL kids to encourage 
exploring NOTL parks. Families joined in 
on the #NOTLParkHop fun by picking up 
tracker sheets at the Library. 

 
July:

Plastic Free July - An eco-friendly-focused 
social media campaign promoted tips on 
how to be plastic-free. 

Canada Day the Niagara Way - Canada 
Day 2021 was celebrated in a Region-
wide approach by connecting through 
the picturesque landscape of Niagara by 
participating in a virtual scavenger hunt.

 
August: 

Garden of the Week 2021 - 2021 was 
the first virtual adaptation of the popular 
Garden of the Week contest, run by the 
Town’s Communities in Bloom Committee. 
Residents chose winners for all ten Garden 
of the Week contest categories, including 
Children’s Garden; Hanging Baskets, 

Strawberry Social Community Centre drive-thru
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

Specialized Plants, Climbing Vines and Rose 
Garden; Container Garden; Hydrangeas and 
Water Feature; Bee and Butterfly Garden and 
Vegetable Garden.

 
September: 

Truth & Reconciliation - Partnering with the 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Museum and Library, the 
Town held a social media campaign spotlighting 
Indigenous history leading up to the National 
Day for Truth and Reconciliation, by sharing 
stories of Indigenous figures. As well as, a flag 
raising at Town Hall on September 30, followed 
by a reflective walk.

October:

Kids Halloween Giveaway - With eased 
COVID-19 restrictions in the fall, the Town was 
able to host an in-person Halloween where 
participating families and children could pick 
up free Halloween bags at one of the Town’s 
five fire stations. This year, more than 600 bags 
were donated, with 100 of those donated to 
the Niagara Region Native Centre.

November: 

#ThankfulNOTL - A social media campaign to 
spread thankfulness through NOTL by having 
residents comment on what they are most 
thankful for. The comments were entered 
into a draw for a Thanksgiving-themed prize 
donated by Harvest Barn Niagara. There was 
a total of 30 entries.

 
December: 

Lord Mayor’s Christmas Card Contest - 
Niagara-on-the-Lake children were invited 
to submit Christmas-themed drawings via 
email or mail to the Town to be sent to 
every resident in NOTL’s three long-term 
care facilities. This year, 107 pictures were 
received, with six winners.

 

 

Santa’s Little Helper - 30 residents entered 
this social media campaign for all NOTL dog 
lovers. The Town asked residents to submit 
a picture of their pet decked out in their best 
holiday garb to spread holiday cheer.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT (continued)

Bags of Halloween candy

Christmas-themed drawings submitted for the 
Christmas Card Contest
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

NOTL Gives Back - A 3-in-1 donation 
drive held at Newark Neighbours in a safe, 
physically distanced drive-thru, this event 
collected non-perishable food, new or 
gently used warm winter clothing, and gift 
donations for a variety of local charities and 
support programs. NOTL Gives Back proudly 
partnered with local schools to acquire 
donations for those in need.

Santa Around the Town - An alternative to 
the traditional Christmas parade, this scaled-
down, single-float event brought Jolly Old 
Saint Nicolas through all five Niagara-on-the-
Lake communities to wave and say hello to 
children from the safety of their front lawns or 
driveways. 

All year: 

Lord Mayor Coffee Hour - This hour-long 
question and answer period with the Lord 
Mayor was held in-person, via Facebook live, 
and via Livestream throughout the year as 
COVID-19 restrictions changed. 

 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT (continued)

Communications

• Media Releases: 82

• Internal Communications: 18

Social Media

Number of new followers:

• Facebook grew by 278 for a total 
of 4,299 followers

• Twitter grew by 182 for a total of 
8,527 followers

• Instagram grew by 1273 for a 
total of  9,079 followers

Join the Conversation

• New Project Pages – 11 

• Total Site Visits – 12.1K 

• New Registrations – 533

• Top 2021 projects: Garden of 
the Week, Ryerson Park, Queen 
& Mississauga Entranceway, 
Inclusivity and Diversity and 
Customer Service Survey
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

HUMAN RESOURCES  
Human Resources provides support and services to all employees. The services provided include 
recruitment, health and safety, compensation, employee and labour relations and training. Below 
are some statistics related to recruitment and health and safety.

RECRUITMENT 
The table below summarizes the recruitment activity for 2021. This table reflects the recruitment 
efforts supported by Human Resources, and outlines the number of Staff hired by Department: 
 
Department Full Time Contract
Administration - 4
Corporate Services 1 0
Community and Development Services 5 8
Operations 9 64
Fire and Emergency Services - 1

Total 15 77
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
Accidents and incidents are monitored and recorded each year. The following table 
summarizes the accidents/incidents in the following categories:

Medical Aid – An injury/illness where the employee seeks medical attention away from the 
workplace from a healthcare professional.

Lost Time – An absence from the workplace following a work-related injury or illness beyond 
the date of occurrence.

Incident Type Accidents/Incidents Medical Aid Lost Time
Slip/Trip/Fall 5 1 -
Struck/Caught 8 3 -

Overexertion 5 2 1
Environmental 1 - -

Total 19 6 1

 
STAFF WELLNESS 
The Staff Wellness Committee continues to offer activities to Staff and support the community. 
The Committee is responsible for investigating innovative ways to support Staff’s physical, mental, 
emotional, and financial well-being by considering Staff’s various needs and desires.
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

As the Director of Corporate Services, it is my pleasure to present the department’s achievements 
and milestones for 2021.

The Corporate Services Department is the administrative backbone of the Town. The department 
supports most day-to-day operations by processing financial transactions, answering and 
directing requests from the public, providing technical support and advice, and processing various 
applications. I am proud of our staff’s commitment and dedication to providing the best service 
possible, by utilizing the resources available. 

I am very pleased to announce the Town received the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
again. This is the ninth consecutive year, and it is an honour to be recognized for our high-quality 
financial reporting. 

2021 continued to see challenges related to the COVID-19 pandemic.  This included various 
facility closures, reduced revenues, increased expenses, and constant change in legislative 
requirements around public health restrictions.  Similar to 2020, the Town regularly reviewed 
its financial position and made timely decisions around program delivery and availability.  This 
resulted in a small surplus that will go towards the 2022 budget and various reserves. 

I look forward to new advancements in 2022 and am confident the Corporate Services team will 
have a strong role in fulfilling new and exciting priorities.  

Sincerely, Kyle Freeborn,  
Director of Corporate Services 

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Office of the Town Clerk

Finance & Taxation

Information Technology 

GREETINGS FROM THE 
DIRECTOR
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK

• In 2021, The Town processed 142 new and renewal short-term rental licenses. 

• The Town processed and issued approximately 72 special event permits.

• The Town issued two lottery/raffle licenses.

• The Town received and processed 33 Freedom of Information requests, as per the Municipal 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (MFIPPA).

FINANCE & TAXATION

• 600 dog tags issued 

• 313 residential parking permits issued 

• 727 residents received their tax bill via email

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

• The Town’s Information Technology division continued adapting to the ever-changing 
requirements of COVID-19 by providing technology and support for staff that extended their 
workplace from the office to home. Introducing virtual and hybrid meetings that extend 
beyond office walls and hours required additional resources and remote support services.   

• The IT division was also responsible for migrating the Town’s Telecommunications services 
from its previous provider to NRBN Voice over IP Services. It was instrumental in sourcing and 
implementing the Town’s new website and meeting management software eSCRIBE.   
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

As Director of the Community and Development Services Department, I am pleased to present 
our annual report of the department’s core services and achievements for 2021.

COVID-19 challenged normal operations in the department in the spring of last year. However, the 
lull imposed on processing planning applications and building permits coincided with increased 
activity in the By-law Division, as efforts were made to ensure compliance with public health 
related Provincial Orders/Regulations imposed by the Solicitor General and Minister of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing. In addition to regular duties, department Staff provided individual responses 
to more than 200 COVID-19-related complaints and 5,000 COVID-19-related inquiries.

Notwithstanding any pause due to COVID-19, activity in the department remained constant 
in 2021. Building Services remained lively with the issuance of 431 building permits totaling 
$106,248,050.00 in construction value. Planning Services, including the Committee of Adjustment, 
received 86 development applications. Heritage Planning remained a priority throughout the 
year, with Staff attending to 25 heritage permits and issuing $17,360 in municipal grant funding 
to residents and businesses. By-law Enforcement continued to remain vigilant, addressing more 
than 925 files and 12,063 parking infractions.  

Amid all the busyness of COVID-19, the Town was awarded the prestigious Prince of Wales Prize 
for sustained commitment to Heritage Conservation.  

It is with appreciation that I recognize the citizen volunteers who assist our department’s function 
by serving on the Town’s Agricultural Advisory Committee, Committee of Adjustment, Glendale 
Task Force, Municipal Heritage Committee, and Urban Design Committee.  

I am incredibly proud of the department’s work this year as we navigated through unprecedented 
times and challenges, and I look forward to continuing our commitment to quality service 
throughout 2022.

Sincerely,

Craig Larmour 
Director of Community & Development Services

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Planning Services 
 
Building Services 
 
Parking and By-law Enforcement 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT 
The Committee of Adjustment is a quasi-
judicial body composed of members who 
are appointed by Council, and is guided 
by the provisions of the Official Plan and 
Zoning By-laws. The Committee is autho-
rized by the Ontario Planning Act to grant 
minor variances from the provisions of 
Zoning By-laws, to permit extensions, en-
largements, or variations of existing legal, 
non-conforming uses, and to hear and 
make decisions on consent applications 
to sever land, establish easements, etc. It 
also makes decisions on fence and sign 
variance applications and property stan-
dards appeals.    
 
In 2021, the Committee of Adjustment 
doubled its application intake from 2020 
and processed applications for:

• 44 minor variances/legal non-conform-
ing uses

• 21 consent applications

• 1 sign variance

• 6 fence variances

• 2 property standards appeals

URBAN DESIGN 

Urban design refers to the design of 
towns and cities, streets and spaces. 
While architecture focuses on buildings, 
urban design focuses on the connections 
development has between people and 
places and the relationships between 
buildings and the spaces they create.

All development applications are 
reviewed and commented on following 
the municipality’s urban design policies, 
guidelines, and standards. Staff is supported 
in this initiative by the Urban Design 
Committee. 

In 2021, the staff liaison processed:  

• 13 development applications through 
the Urban Design Committee 

• 87 reviews of development applications 
against urban design guidelines  

• 39 reviews of building permit 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

HERITAGE 

The conservation of the Town’s cultural 
heritage remains a priority for Council. 
Council’s initiative is supported by the 
Municipal Heritage Committee, who 
reviews and makes recommendations  
Council on permit applications for 
heritage properties, including alterations, 
removals, or demolitions. The Committee 
also promotes heritage conservation by 
supporting heritage designations, heritage 
policy matters, grant application reviews, 
and recommendations.   

In 2021, Council approved funding for 
$70,000 to complete a Character Study for 
Randwood and John Street East. The study 
area will be extended to include all lands 
bound by the Heritage Trail, Charlotte 
Street, John Street, and the Urban Area 
Boundary.   

115-117 Johnson Street received a heritage 
grant for the replacement of windows and worn 
trim

2021 saw 3 properties declared as 
designated heritage properties, which 
were 21, 27, and 31 Prideaux Street.  

In 2021, the Municipal Heritage Committee 
processed:  

• 39 heritage permit applications, 
including 6 heritage restoration and 
improvement grants for which the 
Town provided $20,091.42 in funding 

 In 2021, Heritage processed:

• 4 reviews of development applications 
for impacts on cultural heritage 
resources, including archaeological 
resources 

• 15 reviews of demolition permits for 
impacts to cultural heritage resources

307 Mississauga Street received a heritage 
grant to replace cedar shingles 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Services plays a vital role in managing 
growth to meet the needs of current and 
future residents. Planning must balance growth 
and development with local considerations to 
conserve, protect and enhance our agricultural 
lands, cultural heritage, and environmental 
assets.  

There is a steady interest in development 
within the Town, and the division assists in 
maintaining and creating a high quality and 
sustainable community where people can live, 
work, and visit. Staff and Committee members 
spent considerable time adapting to COVID-19 
requirements and implementing online 
processes to provide continued customer 
service, including online meetings.

Arial view of the Glendale Secondary Plan  

In 2021, the Planning Division received:

• 13 Zoning By-law Amendment Applications  

• 5 Official Plan Amendment Applications 

• 22 Site Plans  

• 3 Draft Plans of Subdivision/Condominium  

• 12 Niagara Escarpment Commission 
Applications 

• 117 Development Pre-Consultations  

• 73 Conformity Statements 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

BUILDING 
SERVICES

BUILDING SERVICES

Building Services is responsible for 
administering and enforcing the Ontario 
Building Code. Building Staff review building 
permits and perform inspections to ensure 
all construction projects meet the standards 
as required by the Building Code.   

Through the building permit process, Staff 
will review permits against the Town’s 
Zoning By-law. This review will ensure that 
all development within the municipality 
conforms to specific provisions of the 
applicable zone.

    

In 2021, the Building Division reported the 
following activity:

• $123,097,721 in value of construction   

• $686,864 in building permit fees  

• Total Permits issued: 493  

 Agricultural Permits – 19 
 Commercial Permits – 51 
 Industrial Permits – 9 
 Institutional Permits – 10 
 Residential Permits – 404  

Of the 404 residential permits issued, 71 
single-family dwellings, 42 townhouse units, 
2 semi-detached units and 24 apartments 
were created. This added a total of 139 new 
units to the Town’s housing stock for 2021.
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PARKING & BY-LAW 
ENFORCEMENT

PARKING ENFORCEMENT

The Parking Enforcement Officers enforce the 
Town’s Parking By-law throughout the municipality, 
including the Niagara College Campus and various 
private properties. The division is responsible for 
the general maintenance and collection of 61 Pay 
and Display machines and approximately 60 single 
standard meters. Parking Enforcement Officers 
take pride in their contribution to the community 
while serving as ambassadors for visitors and 
residents. 

During 2021, officers: 

• Issued 12,746 parking tickets   

• Distributed 3,853 residential parking permits  

• Performed 130 screenings under the 
Administrative Monetary Penalty System 

BY-LAW ENFORCEMENT

The Town’s By-law Enforcement Division 
continues to help maintain a safe, 
welcoming, and pleasant community 
for both residents and visitors. In 
addition to responding to complaints 
and conducting investigations, By-Law 
Enforcement Officers were an integral 
part of enforcing all aspects of the 
COVID-19 Provincial Regulations.

In 2021, officers: 

• Responded to 457 By-law 
complaints

• Responded to 28 property standard 
complaints  

• Received 18 sign permit applications

• Processed 377 Urban Area Tree 
By-law applications

• Issued 17 Provincial Offences Act 
(POA) tickets

• Managed 54 COVID-19 educational 
occurrences  
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On behalf of the men and women who comprise the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency 
Services (NOTLFES) Department, I am proud to present our 2021 Annual Report. The Niagara-
on-the Lake Fire & Emergency Services’ vision is to be high-performing, progressive, and 
visionary in providing emergency services within our community. The exceptional teamwork 
displayed by our volunteer firefighters and Staff has allowed for continued organizational growth 
in 2021.

Early in 2021, members from all department areas collaborated on developing the 2021-2025 
NOTLFES Strategic Plan. This strategic framework, although ambitious, has direct alignment with 
Council’s 2018 – 2022 Strategic Plan, ensuring the delivery of customer service excellence while 
positioning our department as an emergency services leader.

As Fire Chief, I am incredibly proud of every member of our organization, as they work tirelessly 
toward continuous personal and organizational improvement. In many cases, we achieved (or 
even overachieved) our objectives and initiatives laid out for 2021. Are we a better department 
today than when we embarked on this evaluation and planning process? Absolutely. Now, we 
look toward 2022 and beyond as we endeavour to build momentum toward a continuous 
improvement culture.

This report highlights many of the valuable initiatives and programs our Staff and volunteers 
contribute to daily, and presents data and information on the delivery of many of our critical 
services.

I am appreciative of the ongoing support we receive from Lord Mayor Betty Disero, Town 
Council, CAO Marnie Cluckie, and Town Staff, without which we would be unable to deliver the 
excellent service the public has come to expect. As we look forward to 2022, we are excited by 
the prospect of continued growth as we strive to continually improve.

Sincerely, 

Nick Ruller 
Fire Chief

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Community Risk Reduction

Operations & Training

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

GREETINGS FROM 
THE FIRE CHIEF
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

2021 ACHIEVEMENTS & 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• Began training 18 new volunteer firefighters

• Placed into service a new Rescue-Pumper 
for Station 3 in Virgil 

• Began the planning process for 
establishment of a new headquarters 
location at Fire Station 1 in Old Town

• Launched a Firefighter Health & Wellness 
Program consisting of firefighter group 
fitness, mobility training, and fitness facility 
access

• Completed the 2021-2025 Fire Master Plan

• Began the process of procuring a new 
Rescue-Pumper for Station 5 in Glendale

• Replaced all self-contained breathing 
apparatus (SCBA) with Scott X3 Pro SCBAs 
and equipped firefighters with their own 
personal facepieces

• Hired a part-time Program Administrator to 
facilitate the Cost Recovery Pilot Program

• Outfitted 50 firefighters with new sets of 
bunker gear

• Outfitted 50 firefighters with new Class A 
Uniforms

• Piloted, with great success, a duty crew to 
address increased call volume during peak 
summer months

• Transitioned records management 
systems to Emergency Reporting business 
intelligence software

• Obtained Applicant Agency status in the 
CFAI accreditation process

• Received Council approval to proceed 
with the immediate purchase of an 
additional 3000-gallon tanker, with a 
second 3000-gallon tanker included for 
consideration in the 2022 capital budget 
process.

• Received grant funding for an automatic 
backup power generator for Fire Station 
1 and the Town Hall buildings for use as 
part of the Town’s Emergency Management 
Program
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2021 FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE STATISTICS

• Conducted 313 inspections for compliance with the Ontario Fire Code

• Responded to 721 emergencies representing a 26.7% increase from 2020 (569)

• Managed 1713 fire apparatus responses to emergency incidents

• Completed over 6800 hours of training and professional development of frontline firefighters

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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CALL TYPES

The chart below depicts the distribution of all emergency responses Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & 
Emergency Services responded to between 2018-2021 by call type.

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

INCIDENTS BY STATION

The chart below depicts the number of incidents by all five (5) fire stations in Niagara-on-the-Lake. 

INCIDENTS BY STATION

The chart below depicts the total number of incidents in Niagara-on-the-Lake for the last five (5) 
years. 
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OPERATIONS

On behalf of the Operations team, I am pleased to present the 2021 Annual Report.

In addition to reflecting on our accomplishments, we also reflect on how the municipality was 
affected by COVID-19; none of us have escaped the wide-reaching impacts of this pandemic. Yet 
through one of the most challenging years on record, I have seen the astonishing generosity and 
resilience of our Staff and the community. 

I think of all the ways we have adapted to serve our customers both internally and externally and I 
am proud of what we achieved as keeping our essential programs and services operating during a 
period of uncertainty was crucial as was protecting our Staff, residents’ and businesses. 

In the Public Works division, many of the services we provide, including, water, roads, and park 
maintenance, cannot be performed remotely. Staff were able to maintain the high service level 
and quality the community has come to expect from the Town. 

Thank you to all of the Town’s essential workers for your courage, patience and dedication to your 
job.

Parks and Recreation was hit hard by COVID-19 with parks and facility closures. All of our summer 
programs were cancelled, the pools, arena and the Community Centre had to close, and safe re-
opening frameworks were set in place for the changing regulations from the province.

Although facilities were closed, we were able to complete Capital and Operating projects during 
that time. 

The strength and character of a community is revealed most clearly during times of adversity and 
I am extremely proud of our Staff and the community, our efforts to date and the unwavering 
support as we persevered forward.

The successes we achieved in 2021 would not have been possible without the hard work and 
dedication of Council, Advisory Committee Members, Town Staff and the residents. I firmly believe 
better days are ahead, and we look forward to another year of progress.

Sincerely, 

 

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Parks and Recreation

Public Works
Sheldon Randall,  
Director of Operations
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2021 GRANT APPLICATIONS

• Participaction – Community Better Challenge Grant – Applied – Successful 
Ran a free Skatepark Open House on Saturday, September 18 in partnership with CJ’s 
Skateparks.  The event featured free, one-on-one lessons, and live demonstrations by CJ’s 
Staff.  The event was extremely successful and highlighted the Town’s well-used skatepark and 
promoted skateboard safety.

• Kal Tire – Community Reply Grant – Applied – Unsuccessful 
The grant application was for re-surfacing the former Niagara Nursery School playground area 
at the Community Centre.    

Parks and Recreation is responsible for the operation and maintenance of all Town-owned 
recreational facilities (i.e. arenas, pools, a splash pad, sports fields, recreational complexes, Court 
House, Community Centre), park maintenance (25 parks, 135 acres), Queen Street boulevard 
maintenance and horticultural duties, management of cemeteries (1 operational, 8 abandoned), 
and maintenance of all public washrooms and municipal properties. The Parks and Recreation 
division also helps produce the semi-annual Community Guide for social and recreational 
services.

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

Centennial Sports Park in Virgil - Soccer Field
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COMMUNITIES IN BLOOM

• Participated in the Circle of Excellence – 
Non – Evaluated

• Expanded the Community Garden

• Developed the Witness Tree Program

• Created three Gardens of Hope

• Completed phase three of the Hydro 
Box Wrap Beautification Program in 
partnership with Niagara-on-the-Lake 
Hydro and the Niagara Pumphouse Art 
Centre 

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

2021 CAPITAL PROJECTS

• Completed phase two of the re-lamp-
ing of snowflake winter displays

• C01308– Community Centre Table 
Replacement– Purchased new Tables 
for the Community Centre in March 
of 2021.  (22 x 6ft Rectangular and 
12 x 5ft Circular.)  
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

PARKS

• Installed 12 bike racks in the Heritage Dis-
trict 

• Coordinated the design, purchase and 
installation of stair railings in Queen’s Royal 
and Simcoe Parks 

• Refinished all benches, picnic tables, recy-
cling bins, waste receptacles and heritage 
poles in Queen’s Royal Park, Simcoe Park, 
and on Queen Street and Picton Street

• Coordinated the landscape installation at 
Niagara Nursery School

• Coordinated the purchase and installation of 
50 trees on the Upper Canada Heritage Trail

• Coordinated the purchase and installation of 
donated flagpoles at Memorial Park and the 
Niagara Pumphouse Art Centre

• Worked with Niagara-on-the-Lake Rotary 
and led End Polio Now Tulip planting in 
Simcoe Park

• Installed little libraries in St. Davids at 
Sparky’s Park and The Village in a parkette 

• Reviewed all Fire Station landscapes, deter-
mined cost and proposed solutions for main-
tenance improvements 

• Assisted the Friends of St. Davids with gar-
den maintenance through the Adopt-a-Park 
program 

• Performed site visits and selected tree spe-
cies in 90+ boulevard locations for the Roads 
Division 

• Performed the design and determined cost-
ing for upgraded boulevard landscaping for 
all businesses on side streets adjacent to 
Queen Street 

• Selected and obtained rainbow bench and 
supplies and creative safety barriers for 
Queen Street patios funded by My Main 
Street Grant 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE

• Facility closures due to the COVID-19 Pandemic – January 1 to March 14 and April 1 to July 16

• Room rentals were only available from September 7 to December 31

• Modified reopening throughout all open periods in 2021 due to the COVID-19 Pandemic 
(i.e. capacity restrictions, masks guidelines, etc.) 

COMMUNITY CENTRE EVENTS

• No large events took place in 2021 due to pandemic restrictions

• The majority of regular user groups resumed activities from September to December 2021

• Hosted a drive-thru Flu Shot Clinic on November 13 and 14

• COVID-19 Vaccination Clinic Site – Niagara Public Health hosted approximately 10 mass 
vaccination clinics for the Community from March to November

Community Centre Gymnasium during vaccination Clinic
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE PROGRAMS

• March Break Camp was cancelled due to the pandemic. 

• Summer Camp was modified due to the pandemic offering full week registrations only; 2 
camp cohorts with a maximum of 20 children per cohort.  

• Summer Camp registration is noted in the chart below:

Week of Camp Camp Dates # of Campers
Week 1 July 5 - 9 29
Week 2 July 12 - 16 31
Week 3 July 19 - 23 33
Week 4 July 26 - 30 31
Week 5 Aug 2 - 6 32
Week 6 Aug 9 - 13 33
Week 7 Aug 16 - 20 38
Week 8 Aug 23 - 27 39
Week 9 Aug 30 - Sept 3 37

Total: 303

• Winter Break Camp was modified due to the pandemic, offering full week registrations 
only; 1 camp cohort, with a maximum of 20 children.  Camp was cancelled January 5 to 7 
due to enhanced pandemic restrictions (lockdown).

• Winter Camp registration is noted in the chart below

Week of Camp Camp Dates # of Campers
Week 1 Dec 27 - 30 6
Week 2 Jan 3 - 7 17

Total: 23
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AQUATICS

Modified aquatic season due to pandemic 
restrictions.

• Niagara Pool was open from July 3 to 
September 6

• St. Davids Pool was open from July 3 to 
September 3

• Wading Pool was open from June 26 to 
September 6

• Splash Pad was open from June 26 to 
September 31

• Due to an increased demand for 
recreational activities during the pandemic, 
lane swims, family swims and pool rentals 
were expanded.

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

Lessons – The Town was able to offer 
Private & Semi-Private swimming lessons 
at both public pools.  A Bronze Medallion/
Bronze Cross Lesson was also offered at the 
Niagara Pool in July.   

Lane Swims – Up to 6 individuals at Niagara 
Pool, and up to 5 individuals at St. Davids 
Pool could book a lane during each one-
hour time slot from July 3 to September 3.

Family Swims – 4 time slots were 
allocated on weekends only, from July 25 
to September 7 for family swims at both 
public pools. A maximum of 25 registrants 
were allowed at family swims during each 
allocated time slot.   

Pool Bookings – Starting on July 25, the 
Town allowed for private rentals of the pool 
for groups of up to 25 registrants. Rentals 
were only available on weekends.

Aquatics programming registrations are 
noted in chart below: 

July August Total
Private (Niagara) 18 4 22
Semi Private (Niagara) 39 16 55
Private (St. Davids) 17 3 20
Semi Private (St. Davids) 46 13 59
Bronze Medallion 6

Children jumping in to the pool during family swim
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

FACILITIES PROJECTS 
 
The following projects were completed in 2021: 

• Second floor mezzanine evacuation elevator was 
installed

• Memorial Tennis Court expansion

• Partitions were installed in the Town Administration 
building, Operations building, Arena, Community 
Centre, and the Library.

• Replaced flooring in the Market Room at the 
Courthouse

• Replaced basement flooring in the Queenston Library

• Replaced Operations barn garage doors

• Painted the front lobby of the Administration Building

• Water bottle refill station installed at Town Hall

Evacuation Elevator

Water Refill Station
Operations barn garage doors Administration Building Front Lobby

Queenston Library basement
Market Room at the Court-

FACILITIES  PROGRAMS  

• Adult Skate 

• Parents & Preschool Skate 

• Shinny Hockey 

• Stick & Puck 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

CEMETERY  

• Total of 94 Lot and Columbaria niche sales

• 41 full body interments and 79 cremation interments 

• Investing in Canada’s Infrastructure Program (ICIP): COVID-19 Stream Grant – value of $82,000 
to construct a 1200 ft. 2-heated addition to existing building 

• 60+ headstone sales

• Planting of 30 trees

• Section C interlock removal and replacement 
as well as new shrub gardens

• Addition of armor stone and gardens around Section I

• Paved service road and area in front of new shop

• Continuation of turf improvement through 
Integrated Pest Management program

Memorial Tennis Courts

Operations Front Counter Barriers Administration Building Office Partitians

1200 ft 2-heated addition to existing 
building at the cemetery
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ENGINEERING

Road Projects

• Concession 6 Road – Reconstruction of Concession 6 Road between Niagara Stone Road and 
420 metres north of Concession 6 Road. This is phase 1 of 2 to reconstruct Concession 6 Road 
between Niagara Stone Road and Line 2 Road. Construction was halted in December 2020 due 
to weather. The work included the addition of 280 metres of storm sewers for road drainage, 
replacement of the road crossing box culvert for the Bright’s municipal drain, addition of curb 
and gutters on both sides of the road, boulevard improvements and a new sidewalk on the 
east side of Concession 6 Road. The work also included a partial watermain replacement and 
extension between Niagara Stone Road and Line 2 Road to provide necessary fire flows and 
capacity for future development in the area. Remaining works such as the sidewalk installation, 
streetlighting improvements, landscaping restoration and top coarse asphalt were completed 
in the spring of 2021.  

The Public Works division is responsible for the design, construction, operation, and maintenance 
of the Town’s public works infrastructure, including water distribution, wastewater and storm 
water collection systems, roads, sidewalks, streetlights, transit, municipal drains, irrigation 
systems, and related easements and rights-of-way. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Reconstruction of Concession 6 Road
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Road Projects (continued)

• Mississauga Street Culvert – Replacement of a corrugated steel pipe (CSP) culvert on 
Mississauga Street between Johnson Street and Gage Street along One Mile Creek. The 
work included the addition of a concrete box culvert with a larger hydraulic opening. The 
improvements allow for a future reconstruction and widening of Mississauga Street to 
accommodate future active transportation options. The project began in January 2021 and 
was completed in the spring of 2021.

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Road Projects (continued) 

• Butler Street – Resurfacing 70 metres of road between 70 metres south of Mary Street and 
Mary Street.    

• Butler Street – Resurfacing 150 metres of road between Mary Street and William Street. 

• Butler Street – Resurfacing 50 metres of road between 50 metres south of Johnson Street 
and Johnson Street.  

• Butler Street – Resurfacing 150 metres of road between Johnson Street and Queen Street. 



432021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Road Projects (continued) 

• Gage Street – Resurfacing 90 metres of road between Dorchester Street and the dead end.  

• Gage Street – Resurfacing 150 metres of road between Mississauga Street and Simcoe Street. 

• Gate Street – Resurfacing 150 metres of road between Mary Street and William Street.  
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Road Projects (continued) 

• Palatine Place – 
Resurfacing 80 metres of 
road between Circle Street 
and the dead end.  

  

• Regent Street – 
Resurfacing 
150 metres of road 
between Mary Street and 
Johnson Street. 

 

• Shakespeare Avenue – 
Resurfacing 775 metres of 
road between Lakeshore 
Road and Niagara 
Boulevard. 
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

• Vincent Avenue – Resurfacing 300 metres of road between Circle Street and Niagara Boulevard.  

 

• Wesley Avenue – Resurfacing 145 metres of road between Circle Street and the dead end. 

 

• Wilberforce Avenue – Resurfacing 260 metres of road between Circle Street and Niagara Boulevard.
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Roads

• Completed a renovation and construction of a new base and finishing stone for the residents 
to walk safety and enjoy the Heritage Trail from Charlotte Street to East and West Line.

• Removed scrub brush and dead wood to start re-creating the base for future beautification 
of the Heritage Trail from Line 8 Road to Line 9 Road.  

• Planted and replaced 200 trees. 

• Assisted in the construction of the foundation for the new building at the cemetery as well as 
creating the parking lot for future expansion.  

• Revamped and updated the App for the inventory and removal of Ash trees and trimming of 
trees that would be a safety issue to residents and property.  

• Purchased a new GPS software system (Focus) to track our progress and route optimization 
to improve our efficiency and quicken our timelines for winter operations.  

• Created a new app for the daily truck inspection (mandatory circle check).   

• Received our new Tandem dump truck unit #239 to upgrade and improve our fleet.   

• Purchased and received a new snowblower attachment for our trackless sidewalk to improve 
our ability and efficiency of snow removal on sidewalks. 
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Watermains  Projects

Ball Street – The project consists of the full 
replacement of the existing watermain on 
Ball Street from Ricardo Street to Delater 
Street (approximately 58 metres in length). 
The existing 150 mm Asbestos Cement (AC) 
watermain on Ball Street will be replaced with a 
150 mm Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) watermain.  

Melville Street –The project consists of the 
full replacement of the existing watermain 
on Melville Street from Ricardo Street to 
Byron Street (approximately 145 metres of 
watermain). The existing 150 mm Asbestos 
Cement (AC) watermain on Melville Street will be 
replaced with a 150 mm Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 
watermain.

Niagara Stone Road/Line 4 Road – 
Replacement of 1,600 metres of asbestos 
cement mains between Line 3 Road and 600 
metres south of Line 4 Road.  

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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Sanitary Sewers Projects

• Johnson Street – Trenchless relining of 315 metres of concrete sanitary sewer and 
replacement of individual service laterals between Dorchester Street and Mississauga Street. 
Resurfacing of the road was also included in this project.

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Street Lights

• There were no new streetlighting improvements completed in 2021.

Trails and Sidewalks Project

• Anne Street – Installation of a new sidewalk on the south side between Mississauga Street 
and Simcoe Street. 

 

• Lorraine Street Phase 2 – Installation of a new sidewalk on the north side between 110 
metres east of Four Mile Creek Road to Centennial Sports Park. 
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Studies 

• CSO Old Town Study (Mississauga Beach & Chautauqua Drainage Area) – Sanitary Sewer Inflow/
Infiltration Investigation report and rehabilitation plan to address identified deficiencies. 

• 2021 Guide Rail Inventory and Rehabilitation/Replacement Needs – Inspections were carried 
out on existing traffic barriers and possible hazardous locations under the jurisdiction of the 
municipality to ensure compliance with Provincial standards including recommendations and 
cost estimates on the deficiencies at each structure. 

• 2021 Structures Inspection Program Rehabilitation/Replacement Needs – Inspections were car-
ried out on all Town structures (bridge, culvert, pedestrian) with spans over 3 metres including 
recommendations and cost estimates on the deficiencies at each structure. 

• 2021 Structure Asset Management Cost Forecast (SAMCF) – Based on the structures inspec-
tion program rehabilitation/replacement needs study, an expected remaining service life (ERSL) 
report was completed to determine estimated replacement and rehabilitation costs. 

G.I.S (Geographic Information System) Initiatives  

• Automated Vehicle Inspection Forms – These forms 
assist Operations Department Staff in completing daily 
vehicle inspections by automating processes through a 
web-based form that will track and advise appropriate 
Staff of vehicle issues as they arise. 

• COVID-19 Screening Tool and Dashboard – The 
screening tool created for Staff and visitors who enter 
Town buildings and facilities is intended to prevent the 
spread of COVID-19 and potential outbreaks to ensure 
the Town can maintain a healthy and safe environment 
for Staff and visitors. The screening tool aligns with appli-
cable public health guidelines. 
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

G.I.S (Geographic Information System) Initiatives  (contin-
ued)

• Water Meters Installations Map – An interactive map used 
by the Environmental Services Department to identify loca-
tions of new water meter installations and upgrades. A work 
order is attached to each location to keep track of each prop-
erty visit.  

• Water Valve Inspection, Maintenance and Operation 
Map – Annual inspections and exercising of valves along the 
Town’s watermain network to ensure that valves are operat-
ing correctly. The work includes the use of an automated 
valve turning machine. Data is downloaded from the machine 
and integrated into ArcGIS Online using FME software. A 
dashboard displays the data and allows Staff to track prog-
ress and address issues in a timely manner. 

• Catchbasin Cleaning Program – Annual inspections and 
maintenance of catchbasins throughout the municipality. A 
dashboard displays the data and allows Staff to track prog-
ress and address issues in a timely manner.  

• Traffic Data Collection Program – Annual traffic data collec-
tion of vehicle speed, volume, and classification. A dashboard 
allows Staff to determine where issues exist so that measures 
can be taken to mitigate speeding including informing police 
for consideration of enforcement efforts. 

• Santa Around the Town Tracker – A dashboard was created 
to track Santa as he made his way throughout the Town and 
inform residents. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Drinking Water Quality Management System (DWQMS) 

In 2021, the Annual Drinking Water Reports for both the Town’s systems were submitted and 
posted to the Town’s website as required. The Annual Summary Report is also being completed 
and the report to Council is forthcoming. For both of the Town’s drinking water systems, Licenses 
and Drinking Water Works Permits were all received on March 13, 2020, and are valid for a period 
of 5 years. 

A mandatory Surveillance Audit as well as a Re-Accreditation Audit were completed in 2021 by SAI 
Global (the accreditation body). The Town received re-accreditation for both systems that is valid 
for 3 years. The annual Internal Audit was completed by Acclaims Environmental Inc. The annual 
system inspections for 2021 were completed by the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation 
and Parks (MECP) in February 2022 and all DWQMS documents and records are up to date 
and in compliance with all the regulations. The scores were 100% from the Ministry Reports for 
both systems. The risk assessments for both systems were reassessed in 2021 and the annual 
Management Review Meeting was conducted on December 13, 2021. 

All operators received required training and operator licenses that required renewals in 2021 
were all completed. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES (continued)

Drainage 
Vegetation management has continued to be a priority for 
the Town’s Drainage Department. The Town’s vegetation 
management tractor has helped alleviate the stress 
Phragmites and invasive cattails have placed on our 
drainage systems. Residents can expect to see the large 
tracked “green machine” clearing both drainage and 
irrigation channels of vegetation throughout the growing 
season.  

In addition to this, the Town has experimented with goats 
in an attempt to control invasive Phragmites in our 
drainage and irrigation channels. Goats have quite the appetite and have been found prefer 
young Phragmites stalks. For ten days in the fall of 2021, goats were used to control the 
Phragmites in the Harrison/Routh irrigation supply channel. The results were encouraging and the 
Town may explore using goats again in the 2022 season.  

Fire Hydrant 
The Town is commited to ensuring all fire hydrants are functioning and 
operating to meet and exceed provincial standards and guidelines. 
Privately owned fire hydrants were inspected and flow tested, as well as the 
installation of proper colour coding rings to assist the Fire Department in 
identifying what water volume they can expect out of all hydrants. 

 
Water Meters 
Working to upgrade/replace the water meters in the large water users that are coming to the 
end of their life span to better account for water usage.  This in turn helps with our water loss 
program.  

CCTV Work 
CCTV assists the Town in identifying areas that are in need of repair so the system can be repaired 
and not allow the system to seep into the environment. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES (continued)  
 
Water Sample Stations 
The Town has added 3 more sample stations to our distribution system so 
that we can sample and monitor to a greater degree to ensure our water 
distribution system remains one of the best.

Dead End Flushing 
The Town instituted a dead-end flushing program to make sure that fresh 
water is available at all locations in the Town. This in turn helps the overall 
quality of the Town’s drinking water.

Flushing Sanitary Mains 
Identifying areas that are prone to issues and slow moving, and having them flushed on a more 
consistent basis helps to ensure the system stays moving and fresh.  

Valve Turning 
Valve turning continues to be in our program to ensure the system and its infrastructure can 
be turned off and on when required. By exercising valves with our valve turning machine, the 
pressures applied can alert Staff when there are potential issues beginning to surface which 
would then be put into our Valve Repair Program. 

Water Loss Program 
The Water Loss Program identifies locations and areas that require further investigation into 
high water usage in areas that typically do not use that much water. Several indicators will alert 
the Town and residents when water usage is excessive from historic uses. Also, when theft is 
apparent, methods of deterrents are used such as fire hydrant clamp restraints and electronic 
devices when required. Other methods are bypass locking and curb stop locks. These methods 
only deter but have proven effective when water losses are calculated. Leaking services are 
important to have repaired quickly as the water, if between the shut off and building or meter pit, 
is adding to the volumes of water loss.

Storm Water Ponds  
The Town manages a variety of storm ponds and other storm water infrastructure. The Town is 
working continuously with the Ministry of the Environment Conservation and Parks when dealing 
with water quality and pond efficiencies. The Town is continuously investing in performing all 
natural methods with water quality. Pond cleanings are done on a scheduled basis when budget 
is set to do so. 
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The Niagara-on-the-Lake Public Library is a space for everyone where we strive to provide edu-
cational, cultural, recreational and social opportunities to all members of the community. The 
Library comprises a team of professional staff and community volunteers committed to enrich-
ing the community by providing access to the world’s ideas and information.

The Niagara-on-the-Lake Public Library is an important community hub proactively encouraging 
community connectivity and creative thinking through its quality, future-focused library services. 

Under the Ontario Public Libraries Act, the Niagara-on-the-Lake Public Library Board is appoint-
ed by Town Council and responsible for library governance. The Town funds 94% of the library’s 
budget, with the balance funded by the Ontario Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport, dona-
tions, fees, program revenue, grants and book sale proceeds.

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY
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PUBLIC  
LIBRARY

SERVICES

• Curbside pick-up 

• 24/7 dropbox

• Homebound delivery to private residences 

• Borrowing privileges at Niagara Falls, 
Welland, Fort Erie, Pelham, Thorold, West 
Lincoln, Grimsby, Port Colborne, Wainfleet 
and West Lincoln Public Libraries plus 
Niagara College Libraries (LiNC)

• Free wireless internet 

• Public computer access 

• 16 laptops for public use 

• Printing, photocopying, scanning, and fax 
services 

• Vaccine passport printing and laminating

• Collection of online databases 

• Socially distanced study spaces 

• Smart locker pick up and delivery service 
available in St. Davids  

• Monthly e-newsletter

• 3D printing 

• Embroidery machine 

• VHS to DVD conversion

• Laser cutter

• Cricut cutting machine  

• Seed library

• Labyrinth 

MATERIALS

• Daisy collection (digital talking books) 
for those who have a print disability 

• Large collection of print material 
(books, magazines, newspapers) 

• Extensive e-book collection  
• Audiobook collection  
• DVDs 
• Local history material (digital and 

micro-form)  
• Online databases 
• Coding devices/toys 
• Playaways and launchpads   

Child participating in a library program
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2021 BY THE NUMBERS

1 Seed library
3 Author visits

144 Virtual library programs
174 In-person library programs
677 New memberships 

1000+ Vaccine passports printed and 
laminated

3,999 Social media followers
5,466 Curbside appointments

PROGRAMS

• Weekly virtual and in-person (when allowed) 
programs for infants to preschoolers 

• Virtual  and in-person (when allowed) 
seasonal crafts for children 

• Virtual and in-person (when allowed) 
Minecraft club 

• Virtual March Break and in-person summer 
children’s programs  

• In-person (when allowed) knitting club 

• Virtual and in-person (when allowed) tech 
tutoring and adult computer classes 

• Virtual Nobel Prize series 

• Virtual science series 

• In person (when allowed) book club 

• Virtual Genealogy workshops

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY



FINANCIAL REPORT
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The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake is pleased to present its Financial Report for 2021. This report 
has been prepared by management in accordance with the Municipal Act and based on the 
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) as recommended by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of Chartered Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada. The PSAB serves 
the public interest by establishing standards and guidance for financial reporting by all Canadian 
entities in the public sector and contributing to developing internationally accepted public sector 
financial reporting standards.

The Financial Report communicates the Town’s 2021 financial performance to stakeholders and 
residents and provides information regarding significant financial policies and processes. The 
2021 financial results continue to demonstrate Niagara-on-the-Lake’s commitment to financial 
excellence.  

The Town and the Niagara Region provide municipal services to Niagara-on-the-Lake taxpayers. 
The Niagara Region is exclusively responsible for garbage collection and disposal, water 
treatment, wastewater services, policing, and social services. The Town’s financial statements do 
not include Niagara Region services’ costs. 

Niagara-on-the-Lake’s property tax bill includes levies for the Town, the Niagara Region, the 
Province of Ontario (for education purposes), and the Niagara Health System. The Town’s 2021 
levy impact on a typical residential property was approximately 21% of the total property tax bill. 

With each budget cycle, Council and Staff carefully review all service areas to improve efficiency 
and value for taxpayers. As a result of this review, the Town was able to limit its property tax bill 
increase to approximately 0.54% on the Town’s portion of the tax bill without compromising 
services. The increase in the total tax bill, including the Town, Niagara Region, Education, and 
Niagara Health System, was approximately 2%.

The global COVID-19 pandemic played a significant role in how the Town operated during 
2021, resulting in material impacts to many areas of the Town’s budget. These include reduced 
revenues due to various facility closures and recreational programming, parking closures and 
reduced visitors, and increased expenses for personal protective equipment and equipping 
the Town’s workforce to work remotely. The Town received support from different levels of 
government, including $532,000 for general COVID-19 pressures and $35,901 for the Town’s 
transit system made available through the Safe Restart Agreement. Recovery appears to be on the 
horizon, and while the world slowly returns to normal, the impacts of the pandemic will be felt for 
many years to come.

MESSAGE FROM  
THE TREASURER
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While the Town continues to grow, Staff must be mindful of spending, which can be challenging 
for a growing town like Niagara-on-the-Lake. Using policies, priorities, and strategic plans, Council 
has established a roadmap for Niagara-on-the-Lake’s continued and future success.

Kyle Freeborn, CPA, CMA 
Director of Corporate Services/Treasurer

MESSAGE FROM  
THE TREASURER
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Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Canadian 
Award for Financial Reporting to the Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake for its annual 
financial report for the fiscal year ended  December 31, 2020. The Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
program was established to encourage municipal governments throughout Canada to publish high quality 
financial reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing these 
reports.

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish an 
easily readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, whose contents conform to program 
standards. Such reports should go beyond the minimum requirements of generally accepted accounting 
principles and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the municipal government’s financial picture, 
enhance an understanding of financial reporting by municipal governments, and address user needs.

A Canadian Award for Financial Reporting is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current 
report continues to conform to the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting program requirements, and we 
are (will be) submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another award.

 

  

Government Finance Officers Association 
 

Canadian Award 
for 

Financial Reporting 
 

Presented to 

Town of Niagara on the Lake 

Ontario 

For its Annual 
 Financial Report 

for the Year Ended 
 

December 31, 2020 
 

Executive Director/CEO 
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
PROCESSES

Internal Control Management

Management maintains a system of internal 
and administrative controls designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are 
appropriately authorized, that assets are 
accounted for and safeguarded, and that 
financial information is relevant and reliable. 

External Audit

The role of the external auditor, KPMG LLP, 
is to present an independent opinion on 
the fair presentation of the Town’s financial 
position and operating results, confirming 
that the statements are free from material 
misstatements. The auditor’s responsibility is to 
advise management and the Finance Advisory 
Committee of any control or operational issues 
identified during the audit. 

Financial Statement Preparation

The Town’s management is responsible for 
all information in the annual Financial Report. 
The financial statements and accompanying 
notes are prepared using reasonable limits of 
materiality and within the accounting principles 
and disclosure requirements of the CPA Canada 
PSAS. 

Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit and Finance Committee (previously 
Finance Advisory Committee) is newly formed 
and comprises 5 Council members and various 
Staff members. The Chair and Vice Chair are 
appointed annually by Council. As the successor 
to the Finance Advisory Committee initiated 
in 2015, The Audit and Finance Committee 
was established in 2019 to monitor the entire 
accounting cycle, from budget guidance through 
to the finalization of the fiscal year via oversight 
of the external audit function.

2021 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT OVERVIEW
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2021 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT OVERVIEW

The Town’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Municipal Act and based on the reporting standards set by the CPA Canadian PSAB. 

There are four required schedules to form the consolidated financial statements: 

• Statement of financial position

• Statement of operations

• Statement of change in net financial assets

• Statement of cash flows

Together, these consolidated financial statements provide information on the cost of Town 
activities, how they were financed, and the assets and liabilities of the Town. The information 
reflects the whole nature and extent of the Town’s financial affairs, similar to a private sector 
financial statement presentation.   

The following is a high-level overview of the 2021 financial results for the Town. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial 
position highlights four key indicators that, 
taken together, describe the financial position 
of the Town: 

1) Cash resources

2) Net financial position calculated as the 
difference between financial assets and 
financial liabilities

3) Non-financial assets that are normally 
employed for providing services such as 
tangible capital assets

4) Accumulated surplus

The Town continues to manage its day-to-
day finances on a cash basis using fund 
accounting but reports in accordance with 
PSAB. Fund balances are no longer reported 
in the consolidated financial statements and 
are replaced by an accumulated surplus. The 
accumulated surplus summarizes the Town’s 
consolidated equity, which identifies the 
financial position, including tangible capital 
assets and financial resources. 

Financial Assets

Financial assets in 2021 were $59.8 million 
(2020 - $56 million), a $3.8 million increase 
from the prior year. This increase is mostly 
attributed to an increase in Accounts 
Receivables, cash balances from operating 
revenues, and the Town’s investment in 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. (wholly owned 
by the Town). Healthy decreases in Taxes and 
Notes Receivables resulting from increased 
collections have contributed to a reduction of a 
larger net increase.

$59.8

$56.0

$56.9

$52.3

$53.8

$25 $50 $75

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

Financial Assets
(in millions $)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Liabilities

Liabilities in 2021 were $34.5 million (2020 - $29.8 million), an increase of $4.7 million. The 
increase is mainly associated with a significant change in Accounts Payable/Accrued Liabilities 
and Net-Long Term Liabilities and more minor changes amongst deferred revenues and post-
employment benefits. Deferred revenue are payments received in advance for services or goods 
not yet delivered. In the Town’s case, a large portion comprises Development Charge Funds for 
growth-related infrastructure and services. Since there was a modest increase from 2020 to 2021, 
less deferred revenue was recognized during 2021 relative to collections.

$34.5

$29.8

$30.1
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$25.9

$0 $12 $24 $36 $48

2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-Financial Assets

The most significant component of non-financial assets is the Town’s investment in tangible capital 
assets. All Town assets at the end of 2021 are inventoried, valued, and recorded in an asset 
registry for accounting and reporting purposes. These assets are used to deliver Town residents, 
businesses, and visitors programs and services. 

The net book value of tangible capital assets is $200 million (2020 - $196.3 million). Historical 
costs are $294.9 million (2020 - $285.8 million), and total accumulated amortization was $95.2 
million (2020 - $89.7 million), implying that on average, 32.27% (2020 – 31.40%) of the estimated 
useful life of Town assets have been utilized in the delivery of services. Amortization can help 
estimate future capital spending requirements, understanding that asset replacement costs may 
be significantly higher than historical costs.

Land

Land improvements

Buildings and fixtures

Vehicles, Machinery 
and equipment

Information 
Technology & Other

Linear Assets

Street Lighting & 
Other

Work in Progress
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Accumulated Surplus

The Town’s accumulated surplus is composed of investments in tangible capital assets, reserve 
and reserve funds, and net equity in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc., which is offset by unfunded 
and long-term liabilities.

$199.7

$14.3

$22.6

-$1.3

-$6.0

$196.0

$13.7

$21.8

-$1.2

-$5.1

($50) $0 $50 $100 $150 $200 $250

Invested in TCAs

Reserves and Reserve Funds

Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. Net Equity

Unfunded Liabilities

Net Long-Term Liabilities

Breakdown of Accumulated Surplus

2020

2021

(in millions $)



682021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

The Consolidated Statement of Operations 
reports the annual surplus from operations 
during the accounting period. The statement 
shows the cost of providing Town services, 
the revenue recognized in the period and the 
difference between them.  

Revenues

Revenues in 2021 were $38.79 million (2020 - 
$40.0 million), a decrease of $1.21 million over 
the prior year. This decrease is due to lower 
revenues from Provincial grants, deferred 
revenues earned, donations, and Niagara-on-
the-Lake Energy Inc. net income, which are 
offset slightly by increases in taxation, user 
fees, Federal grants, and other municipal 
funding.

Taxation revenues, which account for property 
taxes and taxation from other governments, 
were $14.7 million (2020 - $14.3 million), an 
increase of $0.4 million over the prior year.  

Assessment growth for the Town of Niagara-
on-the-Lake was 1.55% over the prior year.  

Town Council approved a 2021 total budget 
increase of 3.47%. Overall, including the 
Town, Niagara Region, the Province of Ontario 
(for education purposes), and the Niagara 
Health System, the typical residential property 
experienced a 2% increase on their property 
tax bill. The Town’s Portion amounted to 
0.54%.

Tax revenue breakdown by major tax category 
is 95% General Levy, 3% Special Levy: Storm 
and 2% Niagara Health System, where 100% 
of the total tax revenue levied is related to 
Property Taxes.

General Government, 
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Protection, $3.5

Transportation , $7.6

Environment, $12.0

Health, $0.4 Recreation, $5.7

Planning and 
Development, $1.0
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Total $38.79

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

Expenses

Expenses in 2021 were $35.9 million 
(2020 - $35.1 million), an increase of $0.8 
million over the prior year. Transportation 
saw the most significant increase (in 
dollars), while General Government 
and Health were the only functions 
experiencing decreased expenses. The 
remaining functional areas experienced 
increased expenses across the board. 

General Levy , 
$13.95 

Special Levy: Storm , $0.47 Niagara Health System , $0.29 

Tax Revenue by Major Category
(in millions $)

 General Levy  Special Levy: Storm  Niagara Health System

Total $14.71
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

The consolidated statement of cash flows reports changes in cash resulting from operations and 
shows how the Town financed its activities during the year and met its cash requirements.  

Reserves and Reserve Funds Overview

Although reserves and reserve funds are not formally reported directly in the financial 
statements, they are critical to financial management. Reserves and reserve fund balances form 
part of the accumulated surplus. Refer to note #7 in the financial statements for more reserve 
and reserve fund information.  

Council establishes reserves and reserve funds. These funds are set aside to fund capital projects 
and future obligations. They are drawn upon to finance specific initiatives designated by Council 
to minimize tax rate fluctuations due to unanticipated expenditures, revenue shortfalls, and 
ongoing programs.  

Reserve and reserve fund balances at the end of 2021 totaled $14.3 million ($13.7 million in 
2020), an increase of $600,000 from the prior year. The reserve and reserve fund totals do not 
include development charges or unspent government grants, as these amounts are recorded 
as deferred revenue on the Statement of Financial Position. Refer to note #4 in the financial 
statements for more deferred revenue information.

Capital Financing, 
$1.76 

General Government, 
$1.26 

Other, $0.38 Parks and Recreation, $0.07 

Planning and Development, $0.22 

Roads and Transportation, $0.15 
Storm Water Management, $1.06 

Wastewater, $3.57 
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Library, $0.05 

Reserves and Reserve Funds
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The Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets starts with the annual surplus 
and identifies changes in non-financial assets. This includes tangible capital asset acquisition and 
amortization that will utilize or add to the surplus to derive a net change in financial assets.   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS   



FINANCIAL REPORT



Consolidated Financial Statements of 

THE CORPORATION OF THE  
TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 

And Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

2021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 72



 
 
 

KPMG LLP 
80 King Street, Suite 620 
St. Catharines ON  L2R 7G1 
Canada 
Tel 905-685-4811 
Fax 905-682-2008 
 
 

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent  
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of  

The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of The Corporation of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
(the “Entity”), which comprise:  

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021; 

 the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then 
ended; 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 

 and notes and schedule to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies  

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021 and 
its consolidated results of operations, and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of 
our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
  

2021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 73



 
 
 

Page 2 
 
 

 
 

Other Matter – Supplementary Information 

The supplementary information included in Schedule of Library Fund Activities does 
not form part of the financial statements. We have not audited or reviewed this 
supplementary information and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a review 
conclusion or any other form of assurance on this supplementary information. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity‘s financial 
reporting process.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.  
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 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represents the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the Group Entity to express an opinion on 
the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible or our audit opinion. 

 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 

August 22, 2022 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

2021 2020

Financial assets 
Cash $  21,032,114    $   20,520,786 
Taxes receivable 

Current year 1,294,953 1,643,389 
Previous years 921,394 916,761 

Accounts receivable 8,713,574 5,135,172 
Debt recoverable from others (note 6)   19,962 25,049 
Note receivable (note 3)   5,275,214 5,929,872 
Long-term investment (note 2)   22,589,527 21,823,531 

59,846,738 55,994,560 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13,707,477 10,776,954
Deferred revenue (note 4)    13,401,092  12,736,571 
Post-employment benefits (note 5)   1,325,043 1,225,860 
Net long term liabilities (note 6)   6,042,567 5,091,440 

34,476,179 29,830,825

Net financial assets 25,370,559 26,163,735

Non-financial assets 

   Tangible capital assets (note 13) 199,725,704 196,048,540 
Inventories and prepaid expenses 322,050 281,635 

200,047,754 196,330,175 
Commitments (note 8) 
Contingent liabilities (note 9) 
Impact of COVID-19 (note 16) 

Accumulated surplus (note 7) $ 225,418,313 $ 222,493,910 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Signed on behalf of the Municipality: 

Lord Mayor 

Chief Administrative Officer 

2021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 76



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
Consolidated Statement of Operations  

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

Budget 2021 2020 

(note 12) 
Revenues 

Taxation $ 14,671,721 $ 14,707,070 $ 14,333,245 
User fees and charges   13,859,313 15,450,167 14,938,554 
Government of Canada grants (note 14) 563,364 799,258 424,072 
Province of Ontario grants (note 14) 1,419,317 1,151,335 2,388,747 
Other municipality funding (note 14) 96,900 1,029,963 227,060 
Other deferred revenues earned 1,034,847 1,676,028 2,819,365 
Interest and penalties 380,000 467,076 485,387 
Investment income 556,835 367,078 479,241 
Donations 26,000 57,227 551,871
Other  2,595,886 1,567,168 1,429,056 
Equity income of  

Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. (note 2) – 1,515,996 1,963,711 
Total revenues  35,204,183 38,788,366     40,040,309 

Expenses  
General government 3,337,607 3,396,204    4,190,201 
Protection services 4,474,819 4,192,850 3,678,135 
Transportation services 8,892,505 8,109,422 7,380,429 
Environmental services 13,367,505 12,162,504 12,116,660 
Health services 459,510 684,149 712,007 
Recreation 3,840,357 5,518,555 5,440,641
Planning and development 2,145,461 1,800,279 1,607,482 

Total expenses   36,517,764 35,863,963 35,125,555 

Annual surplus (deficit) (1,313,581) 2,924,403 4,914,754  

Other comprehensive income of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. –  –  (10,782) 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 222,493,910  222,493,910 217,589,938  

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 221,180,329 $ 225,418,313 $ 222,493,910 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

  2021 2020

Annual surplus    $  2,924,403        $  4,914,754 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets   (9,847,804) (11,715,450) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 6,162,221 5,926,218  
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 83,504 62,568  
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (75,085) 125,162  
Other comprehensive income of 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. – (10,782)
Change in inventories and prepaid expenses (40,415) 49,034

   (793,176) (648,496)

Net financial assets, beginning of year 26,163,735 26,812,231  

Net financial assets, end of year $  25,370,559      $  26,163,735 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

2021 2020

Operations 
Annual surplus $ 2,924,403  $  4,914,754 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 6,162,221 5,926,218 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy net income (1,515,996) (1,963,711) 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (75,085) 125,162  

7,495,543 9,002,423 
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 

Taxes receivable 343,803  (236,627) 
Accounts receivable (3,578,402) (571,817) 
Inventories and prepaid expenses (40,415) 49,034 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,930,523 (181,570)
Deferred revenue    664,521  (1,439,911) 
Post-employment benefits 99,183  77,992  

Cash from operations 7,914,756 6,699,524 

Capital  
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 83,504  62,568  
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (9,847,804) (11,715,450) 

Cash used in capital activities (9,764,300) (11,652,882) 

Investing  
Dividend received 750,000 694,030 
Change in debt recoverable from others 5,087 4,798 
Repayment of note receivable 654,658 744,940 

Cash from investing 1,409,745  1,443,768 

Financing 
Long-term debt issued 1,374,180   1,850,810 
Debt principal repayments (423,053) (554,661) 

Cash from financing 951,127 1,296,149 

Increase (decrease) in cash 511,328 (2,213,441)

Cash, beginning of year 20,520,786 22,734,227

Cash, end of year $ 21,032,114 $20,520,786

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the "Town") is a municipality in the Province of 
Ontario that provides municipal services such as fire, public works, planning, parks and recreation, 

library and other general government operations. 

1. Significant accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements of the Town are prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards (“PSAS”) as recommended by the Public Sector

Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the Town
are as follows:

(a) Basis of consolidation:

(i) Consolidated entities:

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the reporting entity. The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations,

committees and local boards accountable for the administration of the Town’s financial
affairs and resources to the Town which are owned or controlled by the Town except for
the Town’s wholly owned government business enterprise, Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy

Inc., which is accounted for on the modified equity basis of accounting as described below.
These reporting entities and organizations include the Public Library Board.
Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these

entities and organizations have been eliminated.

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. ("NOTLEI") is accounted for on a
modified equity basis, consistent with the accounting treatment for government business

enterprises. Under the modified equity basis, NOTLEI’s accounting principles are not
adjusted to conform with those of the Town, and inter-organizational transactions and
balances are not eliminated. The Town recognizes its equity interest in the annual income

or loss of NOTLEI in its Consolidated Statement of Operations with a corresponding
increase or decrease in its investment asset account. Any dividends that the Town may
receive from NOTLEI are reflected as reductions in the investment account.

(ii) Partial-consolidated entities:

The Niagara District Airport Commission is operated with a joint local board and is
proportionately consolidated. The Town’s share is 6%.

(iii) Accounting for Region and School Board transactions:

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations
of the school boards and the Regional Municipality of Niagara are not reflected in these

consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Trust funds:

Trust funds and their related operations are not included in these consolidated financial

statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(b) Basis of accounting:

The Town follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are
recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as

they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation
of a legal obligation to pay.

(c) Non-financial assets:

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets

during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the change in
net financial assets for the year.

(i) Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes all directly attributable
expenditures in the acquisition, construction, development and/or betterment of the asset
required to prepare the asset for its intended use.

Amortization is recorded to reflect the cost, net of anticipated residual value, associated
with the use of the asset in providing government services on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset. Work in progress assets are not amortized until the asset

is available for productive use, at which time amortization commences. Gains and/or losses
on the disposal of an asset are recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Operations in
the year of disposal.

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair market value at
the date of receipt and are recognized as revenue. Similarly, transfer of assets to third
parties are removed from tangible capital assets and recorded as an expense equal to the

net book value of the asset as at the date of the transfer.

The historical cost of works of art or historical treasures have not been assigned to these
assets nor disclosed on the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(c) Non-financial assets (continued):

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued):

Asset Class Useful Life (Years) 

General Assets: 
Land improvements 5 to 60 
Buildings and fixtures 5 to 50 
Machinery and equipment 5 to 40 
Vehicles 5 to 20 
Information technology 2 to 15 
Other 5 to 50 

Infrastructure: 
Linear assets 10 to 80 
Street lighting 7 to 60 
Other 7 to 50 

Interest on debt incurred during construction of related tangible capital assets is expensed 
in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year incurred.  

(ii) Inventories:

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and

replacement cost.

(d) Deferred revenue:

Deferred revenue represents licenses, permits, grants and other fees which have been

collected, but for which the related services or inspections have yet to be performed. These
amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the services are performed.

(e) Government transfers:

Government transfers received are from federal and provincial governments. Transfers are
recognized in the period in which the events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the
transfers are authorized, eligibility criteria are met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts

can be made except when, and to the extent that, stipulations by the transferor give rise to an
obligation that meet the definition of a liability. Government transfers that meet the definition of
a liability are recognized as revenue as the liability is extinguished. Government transfers are

paid to community organizations. Government transfers paid are recognized as a liability and
expense when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the
recipient.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f) Tax revenue:

Taxes receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the definition of an asset,
the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred.

(g) Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds:

Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds represents development charge contributions,
payments in lieu of parking and parkland and gas tax, levied or received under the authority of

federal and provincial legislation.  These amounts have been collected but the related services
have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the
services are performed.

(h) Investment income:

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the funding
government or provincial legislation, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added

to the fund balance and forms part of the deferred revenue balance.

(i) Other income:

Other income is recognized as revenue when the service is performed.

(j) Investments:

Investments are recorded at amortized cost.  Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase
of these investments are amortized over the term of the investments.  When there has been a

loss in value that is other than a temporary decline in value, the respective investment is written
down to recognize the loss.

(k) Post-employment benefits:

(i) The Town provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods.
These benefits include long-term disability, benefits under the Workplace Safety and
Insurance Board (“WSIB”) Act, and extended health and dental benefits for early retirees.

The costs of life insurance, benefits under WSIB, life insurance, and extended health and
dental benefits are actuarially determined using management’s best estimate of salary
escalation, earned days accumulated for certain employees payable at retirement, health

care cost trends, long term inflation rates and discount rates.

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulate over
the periods of service provided by employees, such as service payments and health and

dental benefits for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the projected benefits
method prorated on service.  Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized over the
expected average service life of the employee group.  Any actuarial gains and losses

related to the past service of employees are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the employee group.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(k) Post-employment benefits (continued):

For those self-insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from 
time to time, such as obligations for workers' compensation and disability benefits for those 
on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the period the events occur.  Any 

actuarial gains and losses that are related to these benefits are recognized immediately in 
the period they arise. 

(ii) The costs of multi-employer defined benefit pension plan benefits, such as the Ontario

Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS") pensions, are the employer's
contributions due to the plan in the period. OMERS has been accounted for as a defined
contribution plan since it is a multi-employer plan.

(l) Note receivable:

The note receivable is valued at cost. Recoverability is assessed annually and a valuation
allowance is recorded when recoverability is impaired. The note receivable is written off when

it is no longer recoverable. Recoveries of note receivable previously written off are recognized
as revenue in the year received. Interest revenue is recognized as it is earned. Notes receivable
with significant concessionary terms, (such as non-interest bearing notes) are accounted for

as a grant and presented as an expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(m)  Use of estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PSAS requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include

assumptions used in estimation provisions for accrued liabilities and in performing actuarial
valuations of post-employment benefits liability and the valuation of contributed assets. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

2. Long-term investments

The Town holds an investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. (“NOTLEI”) which is represented
by 1,001 common shares of the company. NOTLEI is wholly owned by the Town. Summary financial
information is as follows:

Financial Position:

2021 2020

Assets: 
Current $ 6,569,271 $ 6,060,966
Capital  37,216,933 35,992,586
Other non-current 7,296,351 7,016,508 
Regulatory balances 1,461,952 1,239,218 

Total assets and regulatory balances $ 52,544,507 $ 50,309,278 

Liabilities: 
Current $ 6,537,752 $ 6,590,148
Notes payable to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 5,275,213 5,929,872 
Long-term debt 8,091,360 6,618,685 
Other  9,601,773 8,536,718
Regulatory balances 448,882 810,324 

Equity  22,589,527 21,823,531
Total liabilities, regulatory balances and equity $ 52,544,507 $ 50,309,278 

Operations: 

2021 2020

Revenue $ 32,525,433  $ 37,096,467  
Expenses (including income tax provision) (31,593,613) (35,393,418) 
Net movement in regulatory balances (net of tax) 584,176  260,662  
Net income and net movement in regulatory balances  1,515,996  1,963,711  
Other comprehensive loss – (10,782)
Dividend paid to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  (750,000)  (694,030)
Change in investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 765,996 $ 1,258,899 

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake investment represented by: 

2021 2020

Investment in shares of the Corporation $ 7,054,844 $ 7,054,844
Accumulated net income, net of dividends received 15,534,683 14,768,687 
Total investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 22,589,527 $ 21,823,531 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
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Year ended December 31, 2021 

2. Long-term investments (continued):

NOTLEI delivered electricity to the Town and related organizations in the amount of $829,549 (2020

- $1,012,163) and provided locate services to the Town in the amount of $237,434 (2020 - $35,215).

3. Note receivable:

The notes receivable are comprised of the following:

2021 2020 

Note 1 $ 1,406,046 $ 1,548,786 
Note 2 1,039,190 1,348,980 
Note 3 859,978 1,062,106 
Note 4 1,970,000 1,970,000 

$ 5,275,214 $ 5,929,872 

Note 1 bears interest at 7.25%, is unsecured and is repayable annually in the aggregate principal 
and interest of $250,000 (2020 - $250,000). Note 2 bears interest at 3.50%, is due on February 1, 

2025 and is repayable in blended monthly payments of $29,386. Note 3 bears interest at 3.5%, is 
due on October 1, 2025 and is repayable in blended monthly payments of $19,625. Note 4 bears 
interest at 3.0% and is due on demand. The Town has waived its right to demand payment on notes 

2 to 4 until January 1, 2022. These notes have been postponed in favour of the demand instalment 
loan owing by NOTLEI. The notes are unsecured.  

4. Deferred revenue:

A requirement of PSAS is that obligatory reserve funds be reported as deferred revenue. These

reserve funds are considered obligatory as Provincial legislation restricts how these funds may be
used and, under certain circumstances, when these funds will be refunded.

In the case of development charges, revenue recognition occurs after the funds have been

collected and when the Town has approved the eligible expenditures and used the funds for the
capital project for which the development charges were raised. These funds have been set aside,
as required by the Development Charges Act, to support the cost of growth related capital projects

associated with new development.
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Year ended December 31, 2021 

4. Deferred revenue (continued):

The deferred revenues are made up of the following:

 Externally
 restricted Revenue

2020 inflows earned 2021 

Building permit surplus $ 823,396  $ – $ 397,061  $ 426,335
Canada gas tax  431,689  1,093,374  581,645  943,418 
Cash-in-lieu of parking 353,331 –  –  353,331 
Development charges 9,622,209  263,416  1,034,846  8,848,939 
Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund 171,755 819,101 (63,642) 1,054,498 
Recreational land 304,200  583,963  7,107  881,056 
Main Street revitalization 768 – 768 –  
Provincial Modernization Fund 603,871 – 236,245 367,626 
Other deferred 389,343  88,262  213,225  264,380 
Safe Restart – Transit  36,009 – 36,009 –  
Safe Restart – COVID-19 –  261,509 – 261,509

$12,736,571 $ 3,109,625 $ 2,443,264 $ 13,401,092 

5. Post-employment benefits and other liabilities:

The Town provides certain employees benefits which will require funding in future periods. These

benefits include sick leave, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance ("WSIB") Act, and
life insurance, extended health, and dental benefits to early retirees.

2021 2020 

Retiree benefits $ 573,015 $ 576,732 
Accrued vacation pay 509,100 401,924 
Accumulated sick leave 45,823 44,520 
Future payments required to WSIB 197,105 202,684 

$ 1,325,043 $ 1,225,860 
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Year ended December 31, 2021 

5. Post-employment benefits and other liabilities (continued):

Information about the Town’s benefit plans is as follows:

2021 2020 

Accrued benefit obligation: 
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,293,672  $ 1,222,647  
Current benefit cost 136,843 102,459 

 Interest 20,461 26,997 
   Actuarial gain       (47,761)        –  
 Benefits paid (58,725) (58,431) 

Balance, end of year 1,344,490  1,293,672  

Unamortized actuarial loss (19,447) (67,812) 

Liability for benefits $ 1,325,043 $ 1,225,860 

Amortization of the actuarial loss of $604 (2020 - $6,967) has been included in expenses on the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

(i) Accumulated Sick Leave:

Under the Town’s sick leave benefit plan, employees can choose either to carry forward up to
5 unused days to the next year, have all unused credits paid out at the end of the year, or any

combination of the two choices.  Credits are paid out at 50%.  The accrued benefit obligation
and the expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 were determined by an actuarial
valuation.  The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2021 for the December 31, 2020 year-

end.

(ii) Retiree Benefits:

The Town pays health care, dental, travel and life insurance benefits for early retirees to age

65. The Town recognizes these post-retirement costs in the period in which the employees
rendered the services. The accrued benefit liability and the expense for the year ended
December 31, 2021 were determined by an actuarial valuation and analysis of changes made

to plans since the last valuation. The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2021 for the
December 31, 2020 year-end.

(iii) Accrued WSIB:

The Town has elected to be treated as a Schedule 1 employer for the purposes of WSIB where
a premium is paid to cover the Town's responsibilities under the Workplace Safety and
Insurance Board Act ("WSIB"). WSIB has provided the Town an estimate of the value of the

future benefits for which the Town is responsible.
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5. Post-employment benefits and other liabilities (continued):

(iv) Actuarial Assumptions:

The main actuarial assumptions used for the valuations are as follows:

Interest (discount rate):

The accrued benefit obligation was determined using a discount rate of 3.25% (2020 - 4.0%).

Inflation:

Inflation was assumed to be 1.75% (2020 - 1.75%).

Medical, dental and travel costs:

Medical, dental and travel costs are assumed to increase at a rate of 5.75% in 2021 per year
reducing by 0.3333% per year to 3.75% in 2027 and to 3.75% per year thereafter.

Salary escalations:

Future salary has been assumed to escalate at a rate of 2.75% per year (2020 - 2.75%).

(v) Pension Agreements:

The Town makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund

("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit
plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees
based on the length of service and rates of pay.

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2021 was $892,580 (2020 - $809,557) for current
service and is included as an expenditure in the consolidated statement of operations.
Employees' contribution to OMERS in 2021 was $892,580 (2020 - $809,557).

Contributions for employees with a normal retirement age of 65 were being made at a rate of
9% for earnings up to the yearly maximum pensionable earnings of $61,600 and at a rate of
14.6% for earnings greater than the yearly maximum pensionable earnings.

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit at December 31, 2021 of $3.1 billion (2020 - $3.2 billion)
based on an actuarial valuation of plan assets.
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6. Net long-term liabilities:

(a) The balance of net long-term liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of financial

position is made up of the following:

2021 2020 

The Town has assumed responsibility for the 
payment of principal and interest charges on 
certain long-term liabilities issued by other 
municipalities.  $ 6,042,567 $ 5,091,440 

Of the long-term liabilities shown above, the  
responsibility for payment of principal and interest 
charges for tile drainage, have been assumed 
by individuals. (19,962) (25,049) 

Net long-term liabilities, end of year $ 6,022,605 $ 5,066,391 

(b) The long-term liabilities in (a) issued in the name of the municipality have been approved by
by-law. The annual principal and interest payments required to service these liabilities are

within the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and
Housing.

(c) Of the net long-term liabilities reported in (a) of this note, principal payments are as follows:

2022 $ 562,759 
2023 517,365 
2024 533,913 
2025 530,817 
2026 451,488 
Thereafter 3,426,263

$ 6,022,605 

(d) Interest charges on long-term debt in the amount of $146,336 (2020 - $114,230) are included

on the Consolidated Statement of Operations, classified under the appropriate functional
expense heading. The long-term debt bears interest at rates ranging from 1.35% to 10.45%
payable semiannually.  The long-term liabilities mature at various times up to 2040.
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7. Accumulated surplus:

2021 2020 

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 199,725,704  $ 196,048,540  
Operating fund (3,885,611)  (2,764,762) 

Reserves and reserve funds  14,336,341 13,678,852 
Investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.  22,589,527  21,823,531  

 232,765,961 228,786,161
Amounts to be recovered 

Post-employment benefits (1,325,043) (1,225,860) 
Net long-term liabilities (6,022,605) (5,066,391) 

  (7,347,648) (6,292,251)
$ 225,418,313 $222,493,910
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7. Accumulated surplus (continued):

Reserve and reserve balances:

2021 2020 

Reserves set aside by Council for specific purposes: 
Base mapping $ 700 $  700  
Bridges and culverts 31,020 31,020 
Building vehicle and equipment 60,643 51,643 
By-law vehicle and equipment 28,632 46,221 
Capital levy 1,762,326 1,915,655 
Community centre 13,591 13,591 
Contingencies 130,099 130,099
Corporate studies 20,049 143,249 
COVID 19 – 129,841
Debt reduction 181,030 34,191
Dock area improvement 156,069 171,026
Donations  342,400 404,695
Election expenses 36,059 36,059 
Fleet replacement 142,423 96,182 
Grant and other (56,251) (94,161) 
Irrigation 347,571 460,170
Ontario disabilities 169,213 156,813 
OMB appeals 155,731 155,731 
Parking revenue 940,356 1,071,014 
Road Improvements         (337) –
Sidewalk improvements 31,694 31,694
Storm water management 117,954 (66,768) 
Street lighting 2,335 27,633 
Tax rate stabilization 72,000 52,500 
Training and development 11,857 11,857 
Wastewater capital improvements 3,341,792 2,635,574
Wastewater rate stabilization 228,428 228,428 
Water capital improvements 5,628,348 5,295,116 
Water rate stabilization 194,486 194,486 
Winter maintenance 85,192 85,192 
Working funds 50,000  50,000  
Total reserves $ 14,225,410 $ 13,499,451 

Reserve funds set aside by Council for specific purposes: 
Bequest/Garden 8,371 4,498
Library development and computer 17,192 24,257 
Library donations 28,757 20,757 
Library stabilization – 73,278
Recreation enhancement 56,611 56,611

110,931 179,401
Total reserves and reserve funds $ 14,336,341 $ 13,678,852 
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8. Commitments:

(a) Capital expenditures:

The estimated future capital expenditures based on projects in progress at December 31, 2021
is approximately $8,234,360 (2020 - $6,161,591) after deducting the expenditures incurred as
at December 31, 2021.  These projects will be financed by grants, subsidies and long-term

liabilities in future years.

(b) Niagara Health System:

The Town is currently committed to funding $3,500,000 of the local share of the construction

costs of the Niagara Health System (“NHS”) hospital located in St. Catharines.  The Town has
approved a plan to fund this commitment through annual tax levies in the years 2011 to 2031.
The plan is dependent upon future councils approving this levy on an annual basis.  A balance

of $1,030,142 is owing on this commitment at December 31, 2021 (2020 - $1,318,092)

9. Contingent liabilities:

From time to time, the Town is subject to claims and other lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course

of business, some of which may seek damages in substantial amounts, including punitive or
extraordinary damages.  In respect of most outstanding claims, the Town believes that insurance
coverage is adequate and that no material exposure exists on the eventual outcome of such

litigation, therefore no provision has been made in the accompanying financial statements.

10. Contributions to Joint Board:

The following contributions were made by the Town to:

2021 2020

Niagara District Airport Commission $ 57,467 $ 53,766 

The Town’s share of the net assets of the Niagara District Airport Commission is approximately 
6%. 
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11. Segmented reporting:

The Town is a lower tier municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its citizens.

Segmented information has been identified based on functional classification as categorized by the
Financial Information Return. These classifications are as follows:

(i) General Government:

The mandate of this functional area is to provide political governance, administrative executive
management and those expenses and revenues which are corporate in nature and cannot be
easily apportioned to other departments. Reported in this functional area are departments such

as Council, Clerks, CAO, Finance, Human Resources, Legal, Information Systems and Capital
Assets.

(ii) Protection services:

Reported in this functional area are Fire and Building Services. The mandate of Fire Services
is to provide emergency services through a range of services to protect the lives and property
of the inhabitants of the Town. The mandate of Building Services is to inform and assist

customers to ensure safe and orderly development and provide efficient delivery of building
approvals, inspections, and management systems.

(iii) Transportation services:

Reported in this functional area are Roads and Works. The mandate for Roads and Works is
to provide quality road and traffic maintenance and operations to the residents and businesses
of the Town. This area is also responsible for winter control.

(iv) Environment services:

Reported in this functional area are Sanitary, Storm and Water Systems. The mandate is to
provide a safe and reliable water resource system and is responsible for the maintenance and

operation of the systems and monitoring and administering environmental programs.

(v) Health services:

Reported in this functional area is Cemetery Services.  The mandate is to ensure the benefit

and protection of each citizen who has purchased or has an interest in internment rights within
each cemetery. Also included here is the Town’s commitment to the Niagara Health System
hospital.

(vi) Recreation:

Reported in the functional area are Parks, Recreation and Culture.  The Parks department is
responsible for the maintenance, improvement and beautification of various parks as well as

the planning and construction of new parkland and open space.  The Recreation and Culture
departments are responsible for the delivery of various related programs and the provision of
facilities as well as the support of groups and organizations throughout the Town.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

11. Segmented reporting (continued):

(vii) Planning and Development: 

Reported in this functional area are Planning and Development.  Planning creates the policy
framework and implementation tools required to shape the future of the Town.  Development
is responsible for ensuring that the Town’s land development standards are achieved on all

development applications.

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly 
attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis. Tax revenue is 

allocated to the segments based on budgeted expenditures. For grants received, the allocation is 
based on the purpose of the grant. For user fees and charges, the allocation is based on the 
nature of the user fee generated. The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent 

with those followed in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Year ended December 31, 2021 

11. Segmented reporting (continued):

2021 

General 

Government Protection Transportation Environment Health Recreation 

Planning and 

Development Total 

Revenues: 

Taxation $  4,220,668 $  2,117,870 $  3,938,526 $  – $ 147,511 $  3,703,932 $ 578,563 $ 14,707,070 

User fees and charges 249,363 744,849 2,059,173 11,567,784 261,582 191,743 375,673 15,450,167 

Government grants 804,178 177,252 903,657 179,795 – 879,817 35,857 2,980,556

Other 1,795,620 435,367 704,217 215,429 – 908,859 – 4,059,492

Gain on sale of tangible capital assets 75,085 –  – –  – –  – 75,085 

Equity income in NOTLEI Inc. 1,515,996 –  – –  – –  – 1,515,996 

Total revenues 8,660,910 3,475,338 7,605,573 11,963,008 409,093 5,684,351 990,093 38,788,366

Expenses: 

Salaries and wages 3,631,163 2,364,417 2,362,482 1,242,577 179,031 2,484,258 1,053,749 13,317,677 

Operating materials and supplies 897,285 516,952 1,106,332 693,310 148,766 1,302,673 184,947 4,850,265 

Contracted services 1,114,360 149,365 1,965,749 6,599,368 2,732 100,777 217,770 10,150,121 

Rents and financial expenses 308,092 76 66,994 4,166 – 9,853 – 389,181

Interfunctional transfers (3,320,632) 486,903 645,748 1,364,446 39,631 580,157 203,747 –

Amortization 326,197 647,532 1,926,578 2,247,465 26,039 978,776 9,634 6,162,221

External transfers 414,437 –  – – 287,950 900 83,714 787,001

Debt service 25,302 27,605 35,539 11,172 – 61,161 46,718 207,497

Total expenses 3,396,204 4,192,850 8,109,422 12,162,504 684,149 5,518,555 1,800,279 35,863,963

Annual surplus (deficit) $  5,264,706 $ (717,512) $ (503,849) $  (199,496) $ (275,056) $ 165,796 $ (810,186) $ 2,924,403 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

11. Segmented reporting (continued):

2020 

General 

Government Protection Transportation Environment Health Recreation 

Planning and 

Development Total 

Revenues: 

Taxation $  4,499,376 $  1,876,892 $  3,681,278 $  – $ 117,340 $  3,610,401 $ 547,958 $ 14,333,245 

User fees and charges 226,558 758,922 1,514,579 11,397,896 261,202 169,945 609,452 14,938,554 

Government grants 1,466,453 25,114 1,215,878 273,988 – 61,418 (2,972) 3,039,879

Other 1,968,851 453,257 527,173 857,809 – 1,957,830 – 5,764,920

Contributed assets –  –  –  –  –  – –  –

Equity income in NOTLEI Inc. 1,963,711 –  – –  – –  – 1,963,711 

Total revenues 10,124,949 3,114,185 6,938,908 12,529,693 378,542 5,799,594 1,154,438 40,040,309

Expenses: 

Salaries and wages 3,001,693 2,043,728 2,221,313 1,212,548 183,489 2,431,271 1,078,639 12,172,681 

Operating materials and supplies 1,097,857 520,657 1,240,787 434,526 179,664 1,343,956 113,771 4,931,218 

Contracted services 1,583,957 119,233 1,626,519 6,991,042 550 114,630 152,489 10,588,420 

Rents and financial expenses 346,229 –  – 3,342 – 7,461 – 357,032

Interfunctional transfers (2,863,718) 429,037 475,750 1,227,292 37,916 514,937 178,786 –

Amortization 337,514 565,480 1,797,186 2,228,327 22,438 967,225 8,048 5,926,218

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets 125,162 –  – –  – –  – 125,162 

External transfers 534,801 –  – – 287,950 – 26,057 848,808

Debt service 26,706 – 18,874 19,583 – 61,161 49,692 176,016

Total expenses 4,190,201 3,678,135 7,380,429 12,116,660 712,007 5,440,641 1,607,482 35,125,555

Annual surplus (deficit) $  5,934,748 $ (563,950) $ (441,521) $  413,033 $ (333,465) $ 358,953 $ (453,044) $ 4,914,754 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

12. Budget data:

The audited budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based upon the
2021 operating and capital budgets approved by Council. The chart below reconciles the approved

budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated financial statements. Budgets
established for tangible capital asset acquisitions are on a project-oriented basis, the costs of which
may be carried out over one or more years. Where amounts were budgeted for on a project-oriented

basis, the actual amounts for 2021 were used in order to adjust the budget numbers to reflect the
same basis of accounting that was used to report the actual results. In addition, to ensure
comparability of expenses, the allocation of program support costs completed for actual reporting

was also applied to the budget amounts.

The chart below reconciles the approved budget figures reported on the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.

 Budget Amount 

Revenue: 
Operating budget as approved $ 37,610,403 

Add: 
Development charges 1,034,847 
Building Code Act 397,061 
Recreational Land (the Planning Act) 7,107 
Other deferred revenue 233,434 
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets 75,085 

Less:  
Transfers from other funds (3,318,349) 
Principal and dividends from NOTLEI (835,405) 

Total revenue 35,204,183 

Expenses: 

Operating budget as approved 37,610,403 

Add: 
Amortization  6,162,221 
Employee future benefits 99,183 
Capital projects resulting in operating expenses 524,096 

Less:  
Transfer to reserves, including capital (7,287,860) 
Debt principal payments (590,279) 

Total expenses 36,517,764 

Annual Deficit $ (1,313,581) 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

13.  Tangible capital assets:

(a) Work in progress:

Work in progress having a value of $8,868,406 (2020 - $8,900,354) is not depreciated.

Depreciation of these assets commence when the assets are placed in service. No interest
was capitalized during the period.

(b) Contributed capital assets:

Contributed capital assets are recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution. The
value of contributed assets during the year is $nil (2020 - $ nil).

(c) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values:

Where an estimate of fair market value could not be made for a tangible capital asset, the asset
was recognized at a nominal value. Nominal values totaling $nil (2020 - $nil) have been
assigned to Buildings, Land, Machinery and Equipment, Land Improvements, and Linear Asset

categories.

(d) Works of art and historical treasures:

No works of art or historical treasures are held by the Town.

2021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 99



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
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Year ended December 31, 2021 

13. Tangible capital assets (continued):

2021 
General 

Opening 
NBV 

Opening 
Cost Additions Disposals 

Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Amortization Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization Total 

Land $ 6,845,841 $ 6,845,841 $             – $ – $ 6,845,841 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 6,845,841

Land improvements  4,904,732 7,492,851 358,358 – 7,851,209 2,588,119 258,766 – 2,846,885 5,004,324

Buildings and fixtures 17,137,270 29,079,824 2,206,283 – 31,286,107 11,942,554 801,304 – 12,743,858 18,542,249

Machinery and equipment 4,845,845 8,498,405 1,107,253 9,768 9,595,890 3,652,560 484,034 9,633 4,126,961 5,468,929 

Vehicles 5,525,335 10,356,516 1,957,048 479,338 11,834,226 4,831,181 667,897 479,338 5,019,740 6,814,486 

Information technology 433,846 1,828,176 91,612 72,681 1,847,107 1,394,330 152,287 72,681 1,473,936 373,171 

Exterior lighting 1,920,860 3,596,041 209,355 138,680 3,666,716 1,675,181 159,005 137,417 1,696,769 1,969,947 

Subtotal:  General assets 41,613,729 67,697,654 5,929,909 700,467 72,927,096 26,083,925 2,523,293 699,069 27,908,149 45,018,947 

Infrastructure 

Linear assets  140,339,166 201,381,031 3,937,164 28,888 205,289,307 61,041,865 3,451,208 21,867 64,471,206 140,818,101 

Street lighting 2,496,618 3,576,491 12,678 – 3,589,169 1,079,873 101,623 – 1,181,496 2,407,673 

Other 2,698,673 4,220,932 –  –  4,220,932 1,522,259 86,097 – 1,608,356 2,612,576 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets 145,534,457 209,178,454 3,949,842 28,888 213,099,408 63,643,997 3,638,928 21,867 67,261,058 145,838,350 

Work in progress 

Opening balance 8,900,354 8,900,354 9,847,805 – 18,748,159 –  –  –  –  18,748,159 

Internally transferred –  –      (9,879,752) – (9,879,752) –  –  –  –  (9,879,752) 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 8,900,354 8,900,354 (31,947) – 8,868,407 –  –  –  –  8,868,407 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2021 

$ 196,048,540 $ 285,776,462 $ 9,847,804 $ 729,355 $ 294,894,911 $ 89,727,922 $ 6,162,221 $ 720,936 $ 95,169,207 $ 199,725,704 
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Year ended December 31, 2021 

13. Tangible capital assets (continued):

2020 
General 

Opening 
NBV 

Opening 
Cost Additions Disposals 

Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Amortization Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization Total 

Land $6,845,841 $6,845,841 $           – $ – $6,845,841 $            – $ – $ – $            – $6,845,841

Land improvements 4,736,429 7,100,653 447,629 55,431 7,492,851 2,364,224 258,569 34,674 2,588,119 4,904,732

Buildings and fixtures 17,749,533 28,930,914 148,910 – 29,079,824 11,181,381 761,173 – 11,942,554 17,137,270

Machinery and equipment 5,102,337 8,322,604 233,852 58,051 8,498,405 3,220,267 482,154 49,861 3,652,560 4,845,845

Vehicles 4,189,834 8,977,494 1,987,031 608,009 10,356,516 4,787,660 579,094 535,573 4,831,181 5,525,335

Information technology 492,369 1,779,425 112,318 63,567 1,828,176 1,287,056 167,690 60,416 1,394,330 433,846 

Exterior lighting 1,895,151 3,458,706 197,481 60,146 3,596,041 1,563,555 165,575 53,949 1,675,181 1,920,860 

Subtotal:  General assets 41,011,494 65,415,637 3,127,221 845,204 67,697,654 24,404,143 2,414,255 734,473 26,083,925 41,613,729 

Infrastructure 

Linear assets 137,875,775 195,822,765 5,881,287 323,021 201,381,031 57,946,990 3,340,897 246,022 61,041,865 140,339,166 

Street lighting 1,526,796 2,520,548 1,055,943 – 3,576,491 993,752 86,121 – 1,079,873 2,496,618 

Other 2,561,849 3,999,163 221,769 – 4,220,932 1,437,314 84,945 – 1,522,259 2,698,673 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets 141,964,420 202,342,476 7,158,999 323,021 209,178,454 60,378,056 3,511,963 246,022 63,643,997 145,534,457 

Work in progress 

Opening balance 7,471,124 7,471,124 11,715,449 – 19,186,573 –  –  –  –  19,186,573 

Internally transferred –  –     (10,286,219) – (10,286,219) –  –  –  –  (10,286,219) 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 7,471,124 7,471,124 1,429,230 – 8,900,354 –  –  –  –  8,900,354 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2020 

$190,447,038 $275,229,237  $11,715,450 $1,168,225 285,776,462 $84,782,199  $5,926,218 $980,495 $89,727,922  $196,048,540 
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14. Government transfers:

Government transfers do not include payments in lieu of taxes received from Federal and Provincial
governments.  These amounts are included with taxation revenue on the Consolidated Statement
of Operations:

Budget 2021 2020 

Operating transfers: 
Federal $  8,000 $ 217,613 $ 56,009  
Provincial 604,174  1,151,335 1,743,696
Upper-Tier/Other Municipalities 96,900 1,029,963 227,060 

709,074  2,398,911 2,026,765

Capital transfers: 
Federal 555,364  581,645 368,063
Provincial 815,143 – 645,051

1,370,507 581,645  1,013,114 

Total transfers $ 2,079,581 $ 2,980,556 $ 3,039,879 

Government transfers paid are included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and are 
summarized in Note 11 - Segmented Information under External Transfers. 

15. Trust funds:

Trust funds administered by the Town amounting to $1,203,655 (2020 - $1,164,356) have not been
included in these Consolidated financial statements.
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16. Impact of COVID-19:

On March 11, 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health
Organization. This has resulted in governments worldwide, including the Canadian, Ontario and
municipal governments, enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. These
measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods and
social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally and in Ontario resulting
in an economic slowdown. Governments and central banks have reacted with significant monetary
and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions however the success of these
interventions is not currently determinable. The current challenging economic climate may lead to
adverse changes in cash flows and working capital levels due to changes in patient volumes, which
may also have a direct impact on the Town’s operating results and financial position in the future.

At the date of the audit report, The Town of Niagara-on-the Lake experienced the following
operating and financial implications in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic:

o Closure of parks and recreation facilities and administrative buildings throughout the year
based on public health recommendations

o Mandatory working from home requirements for those able to do so

In response to the COVID-19 pressures, the Town obtained a $10 million line of credit which bears 
interest at prime minus 0.75% per annum. No amounts were drawn on this line at December 31, 
2021. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Town received $576,916 of one-time funding as 
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Of this amount, the Town recognized $315,407 and deferred 
$261,509 for use on future expenses relating to COVID-19 and transit expenditures. As of the 
approval date of these financial statements, the outcome and timeframe to a full recovery from the 
current pandemic is undeterminable and it is not practicable to estimate and disclose the financial 
effect on future operations, however the financial impact on the Town is not expected to be 
significant in the foreseeable future. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Schedule of Library Fund Activities  
(Unaudited) 

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

Budget 2021 2020 

Revenues: 
Development charges $ 16,200 $ 16,866 $ 14,524 
Municipal grant 675,796 675,796 750,796 
Donations 2,000 23,357 5,714
Provincial grants 35,276 35,476 35,476 
Miscellaneous 5,000 11,213 35,905
Other grants 8,000 69,876 17,648 

742,272 832,584 860,063

Expenditures: 
Amortization 117,496 117,496 123,887
Building maintenance 4,500 5,106 1,208 
Contracted services            5,000     1,265 – 

Expensed capital projects     – 15,042 – 

Insurance 5,653 6,042 6,923 
Licensing and computer support 34,000 37,992 14,859 
Memberships 1,500 2,493 1,401
General library expenses 23,500 24,679 14,518 
Office supplies 35,000 55,384 56,657 
Professional development 3,000 179 4,004 
Professional fees 3,000 7,575 839 
Program expenditures 3,000 13,091 5,162 
Public relations 1,500 1,656 959 
Rent 60,000 60,000 60,000
Telephone 1,800 3,066 3,218
Wage and benefits 614,320 653,070 572,582 
Workshops  3,000 4,875 1,406 

916,269  1,009,011 867,623

Annual deficit (173,997) (176,427) (7,560) 
Add:  Amortization of tangible capital assets – 117,496 123,887
Less:  Acquisition of tangible capital assets – (27,130) (38,478)

Transfers from reserve fund (56,500) (58,931) 116,204  
Adjusted annual (deficit) surplus $ (230,497) $ (144,992) $ 194,053 

2021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 104



 
 
 

KPMG LLP 
80 King Street, Suite 620 
St. Catharines ON  L2R 7G1 
Canada 
Tel 905-685-4811 
Fax 905-682-2008 
 
 

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent  
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Corporation of The 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
  
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the trust funds of The Corporation of the 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the “Entity”), which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021,  

 the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended,  

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 

 and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of 
our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 106



 
 
 

Page 3 
 
 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusion is based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.   

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 

August 22, 2022
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Financial Position – Trust Funds 
 
As at December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care & Preneeds 2021 2020 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
Financial Assets 
 Cash   $ 1,074,853 $ 125,637  $ 1,200,490 $ 1,177,641 
 Due from Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  
 (note 2)   3,101  64  3,165  –  

  1,077,954  125,701  1,203,655  1,177,641 
   

Liabilities 
 Due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake    
 (note 2)   –   –   –   13,285 

 
 
Net financial assets and accumulated surplus $1,077,954 $ 125,701 $1,203,655 $ 1,164,356 

 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus – Trust Funds 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care &  Preneeds 2021 2020 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
 
Revenues: 
 Care & maintenance agreements   $ 42,229  $               –   $ 42,229   $ 52,393 
 Interest earned        7,551              843            8,394          12,337 
   49,780  843  50,623 64,730 
 
Expenditures:  
 Interest transferred   7,551  –    7,551  10,835 
 Cemetery preneeds  –   3,773  3,773  5,583 
   7,551  3,773            11,324  16,418 
 
Annual surplus (deficit)   42,229  (2,930)           39,299  48,312 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year  1,035,725  128,631       1,164,356  1,116,044 
 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $1,077,954 $ 125,701 $ 1,203,655 $1,164,356 

 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Cash Flows – Trust Funds 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative information for 2020 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Operations: 
 Annual surplus $ 39,299  $ 48,312  
 
Uses: 

 Change in due to/from Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  (16,450)  (11,007) 
 
Increase in cash 22,849 37,305 
 
Cash, beginning of year 1,177,641 1,140,336 
 
Cash, end of year $ 1,200,490 $ 1,177,641 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Trust Funds Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The financial statements of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake trust funds are 

prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards 
(“PSAS”) established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada. 

(a) Basis of accounting: 

(i) Receipts and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 

(ii) The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and 
measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result 

of the receipt of goods and services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

 

2. Due from/to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake: 

The amounts owing from and to The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake are non-
interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

General Statistics

Households 8343 7,153 7,026 7,069 6,919 

Population 19088 17,511 17,511 17,511 17,511 

Municipal Workforce Profile

Full-time Positions 98 96 97 96 93

Contract Employees 24 20 26 107 86

Number of Lane Kilometres in Road System 481 477 475 475

Total Hectares in the Town 13283 13,283 13,283 13,283 13283

Number of Building Permits Issued 490 431 402 530 568

Total Value of Building Permits Issued 121582721 106,208,050           120,645,688 96,640,209 $133,955,727
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Taxation Statistics

Taxable Assessment

Residential 4,281,637,627         4,213,806,966        3,961,385,384            3,719,402,387          3,442,759,833              

Multi-Residential 14,834,100               14,834,100             14,470,825                 16,526,990               15,947,775                   

Commercial 792,750,706            793,101,106           760,302,064               699,819,604             652,795,316                 

Industrial 57,779,600               53,950,700             47,553,372                 45,697,981               42,496,131                   

Farmland 525,086,978            524,802,139           494,516,457               445,463,201             401,259,800                 

Pipeline 18,843,000               18,559,000             17,983,879                 17,390,000               16,777,750                   

Managed Forests 1,402,100                 1,402,100                1,232,094                    797,000                    666,225                        

5,692,334,111        5,620,456,111       5,297,444,075          4,945,097,163          4,572,702,830              

Tax Levy

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 14,132,028               13,695,648             12,545,156                 11,784,195.00           11,179,872                   

Niagara Region 37,418,862               36,349,290             33,735,634                 31,575,471.00           30,144,564                   

Education 14,309,298               15,220,263             15,144,905                 14,734,824.00           14,371,523                   

65,860,188             65,265,201            61,425,695               58,094,490               55,695,959                   

Current Year's Tax Collections 64,043,778               62,903,537             58,594,183                 56,520,320.00           53,796,498                   

Current Year's Tax Collections as a 

Percentage of Current Tax Levy 97.2% 96.4% 95.4% 97.3% 96.6%

Total Tax Arrears 2,140,820                 2,560,150                2,323,523                    2,004,180                   1,659,040                     

Total Tax Arrears as a Percentage of

Current Tax Levy 3.3% 3.9% 3.8% 3.4% 3.0%

Top Ten Largest Corporate Property Taxpayers in 2020

Owner Owner ID Taxes Paid Name

The Outlet Collection (Niagara THEOU00001 5,453,168.28              The Outlet Collection (Niagara

Lais Hotel Properties Limited LAISH00001 2,169,443.77              Lais Hotel Properties Limited

White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated WHITE00019 423,496.77                 White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated

Niagara Falls Bridge Commission NIAGA00001 441,837.70                 Niagara Falls Bridge Commission

Niagara York Road Inc NIAGA00049 384,028.80                 Niagara York Road Inc

Celca Holdings Limited CELCA00001 317,766.94                 Celca Holdings Limited

Pleasant Manor Retirement Village PLEAS00002 277,336.72                 Pleasant Manor Retirement Village

Andrew Peller Limited/Andrew Peller Limitee ANDRE00073 276,342.00                 Andrew Peller Limited/Andrew Peller Limitee

Xinjiade Canada Inc XINJI00001 240,711.75                 Xinjiade Canada Inc

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. ENBRI00001 231,905.06                 Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

Top Ten Assessment Total

% of Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment

% of Total Taxable Assessment

Total Residential Assessment

Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment

Total Taxable Assessment
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Financial Assets

Cash 21,032,114               20,520,786             22,734,227                 18,262,180                 20,043,087                   

Short-term investments 43,026                        42,640                          

Taxes receivable 2,140,820                 2,560,150                2,323,523                    2,004,180                   1,659,040                     

Accounts receivable 8,713,574                 5,135,172                4,563,355                    4,829,389                   4,787,721                     

Debt recoverable from others 19,962                      25,049                     29,847                         35,451                        40,737                          

Note receivable 5,275,214                 5,930,737                6,674,797                    7,624,743                   8,478,901                     

Long-term investment 22,589,527               21,823,531             20,564,632                 19,502,263                 18,755,744                   

Total financial assets 59,771,211             55,995,425            56,890,381               52,301,232               53,807,870

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13,631,950               10,777,820             10,958,508                 10,621,816                 9,140,858                     

Lease purchase agreements -                                

Deferred revenue 13,401,092               12,736,571             14,176,482                 12,719,206                 12,594,905                   

Post-employment benefits 1,325,043                 1,225,860                1,147,869                    1,175,414                   1,116,462                     

Net long-term liabilities 6,042,567                 5,091,440                3,795,291                    2,431,132                   3,047,855                     

Total financial liabilities 34,400,652             29,831,691            30,078,150               26,947,568               25,900,080                   

Net financial assets (net debt) 25,370,559             26,163,734            26,812,231               25,353,664               27,907,790

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets 199,725,704            196,048,540           190,447,038               187,279,558               178,633,477                 

Inventories and prepaid 322,050                    281,635                   330,669                       637,076                      519,503                        

Total non-financial assets 200,047,754           196,330,175          190,777,707             187,916,634             179,152,980                 

Accumulated surplus 225,418,313           222,493,909          217,589,938             213,270,298             207,060,769
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Statement of Financial Position Statistics

Tangible Capital Asset Additions 9,796,245                 11,715,449             8,731,431                    14,258,141                 9,716,547                     

Net Long-term Liabilities 6,042,567                 5,091,440                3,795,291                    2,431,132                   3,047,855                     

Per Capita 317                         291                        217                           139                           $174.05

Percentage of Tax Levy 9.17% 7.80% 6.18% 4.18% 5.47%

Gross Debt

Supported by Taxes 5,718,682                 4,662,407                3,036,991                    1,145,760                   1,245,520                     

Supported by Non-tax Revenue 303,923                    429,033                   758,300                       1,285,372                   1,802,335                     

Net Long-term Liabilities 6,042,567               5,091,440              3,795,291                 2,431,132                 3,047,855

-                            

Debt Charges for the Year

Principal Payments 417,966                    549,863                   435,561                       611,437                      590,393                        

Interest Charges 205,994                    174,225                   142,720                       120,098                      128,393                        

Annual Debt Repayment Limit 7,476,174                 7,292,149                7,738,195                    7,250,631                   6,990,743                     

Accumulated Surplus 225,418,313            222,493,909           217,589,938               213,270,298               207,060,769                 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Revenue by Source

Taxation 14,707,070               14,333,244             13,175,953                 12,410,221                 11,786,633                   

User fees and charges 15,450,167               14,938,554             15,595,968                 15,129,117                 14,114,544                   

Government of Canada 799,258                    424,072                   1,046,981                    1,695,817                   1,345,431                     

Province of Ontario 1,151,335                 2,509,876                1,572,233                    1,547,102                   1,478,502                     

Other municipal funding 1,029,963                 227,060                   239,105                       196,255                      153,909                        

Development levies earned 1,676,028                 2,698,236                2,181,272                    2,324,739                   1,795,008                     

Interest and penalties 467,076                    485,387                   378,359                       342,024                      323,552                        

Investment income 367,078                    479,242                   674,892                       638,260                      556,820                        

Donations 57,227                      551,871                   195,924                       372,120                      419,093                        

Miscellaneous income/other 1,567,168                 1,429,056                2,457,043                    2,259,251                   1,617,605                     

NOTLEI net income 1,515,996                 1,963,711                1,562,369                    1,246,519                   1,663,472                     

Total revenue by source 38,788,366             40,040,309            39,080,099               38,161,425               35,254,569

Expense by Function 

General Government 3,396,204                 4,190,201                3,799,653                    2,409,148                   2,375,773                     

Protection 4,192,850                 3,678,135                3,425,375                    3,345,149                   3,021,714                     

Transportation 8,109,422                 7,380,431                7,691,797                    7,349,169                   6,765,464                     

Environment 12,162,504               12,116,660             12,027,904                 10,696,416                 9,856,149                     

Health 684,149                    712,007                   604,533                       644,510                      564,610                        

Recreation 5,518,555                 5,440,640                5,645,857                    5,403,102                   5,542,527                     

Planning and Development 1,800,279                 1,607,482                1,565,340                    2,104,402                   1,768,481                     

Total expenses by function 35,863,963             35,125,556            34,760,459               31,951,896               29,894,718                   

Annual Surplus 2,924,403                 4,914,753                4,319,640                    6,209,529                   5,359,851                     

Other Comprehensive Income NOTLEI 10,782-                     (107,457)                       

Accumulated surplus, beginning 222,493,910            217,589,938           213,270,298               207,060,769               201,808,375                 

Accumulated surplus, ending 225,418,313           222,493,909          217,589,938             213,270,298             207,060,769                 

Analysis of Expenses by Object

Salaries and wages 13,317,677               12,172,682             12,316,600                 11,485,577                 10,132,563                   

Operating materials and supplies 4,850,265                 4,931,218                4,754,592                    4,455,206                   3,958,395                     

Contracted services 10,150,122               10,588,420             10,248,155                 9,310,104                   9,022,565                     

Rents and financial expenses 389,181                    482,194                   369,812                       172,973                      503,821                        

External transfers 787,001                    848,808                   1,121,645                    784,358                      819,792                        

Amortization 6,162,220                 5,926,218                5,804,808                    5,621,136                   5,326,092                     

Loss on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets -                               

Debt service 207,497                    176,016                   144,847                       122,542                      131,490                        

Total expenses by object 35,863,963             35,125,556            34,760,459               31,951,896               29,894,718

2021 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake |  116



1

1593 Four Mile Creek Road, VIrgil, ON, L0S 1T0
Phone: (905) 468-3266. Fax: (905) 468-2959

Email: info@notl.com 
Web: www.notl.com


	1 - Annual Report
	2 - Financial Report
	3 - 2021-12-31 Town of NOTL FS - Signed
	4 - 2021-12-31  NOTL Trust FS
	5 - Stat Review
	6 - 2021 Statistical Analysis Final
	7 - Back Page



